
 

     AGENDA
  Monthly Council Meeting                                                                      December 12, 2011

Joseph Ronnie Rogers Council Chambers, Milford City Hall, 201 South Walnut Street, Milford, Delaware 

7:00 p.m.
COUNCIL MEETING

Call to Order - Mayor Joseph Ronnie Rogers

Invocation

Pledge of Allegiance

Approval of Previous Minutes

Recognition

Monthly Police Report 

City Manager’s Report

Committee Reports
 
Communications 

Unfinished Business 
Adoption of Ordinance 2011-28/Chapter 193-Solid Waste/Yard Waste
DBF Proposal/Amendment/Test Well Site Project* 

  
New Business 

Bid Approval/Dump Truck & Plow/State Contract/Street Department**
Acceptance of FY2010-2011 City of Milford Audit
Introduction of Ordinance 2011-29/Modification of Conditional Use for PUD/Davis, Bowen and Friedel, Incorporated on behalf

of Siobain-VI LLC
DBF Proposal/Washington Street Water Treatment Plan Rehabilitation & Improvements Project
Planning Commission Vacancies
FY2011-12 Budget Amendment
Final Review and Approval/Feasibility Study for Small Business Accelerator*** 
Introduction of Ordinance 2011-30/Chapter 119/Electric Tariff/Rate Reduction***
      

Monthly Finance Report

Executive Session****

Land Acquisition/Pursuant to 29 Del. C. §10004(b)(2) Preliminary discussions on site acquisitions for any publicly funded capital
improvements

Personnel/Pursuant to 29 Del. C. §10004(b)(9) Personnel matters in which the names, competency and abilities of individual employees
or students are discussed

Adjourn
This agenda shall be subject to change to include additional items including executive sessions or the 
deletion of  items including executive sessions which arise at the time of the public body's meeting.  

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK IN ELECTRONIC FORMAT 
NO LATER THAN ONE WEEK PRIOR TO MEETING; NO PAPER DOCUMENTS WILL BE ACCEPTED 

OR DISTRIBUTED AFTER PACKET HAS BEEN POSTED ON THE CITY OF MILFORD WEBSITE.

1114111 120111 120511 *120711 Late Info Received/DBF **120811 Info Received from Public Works Director ***Info Received from City Manager Y Consultant John Rhodes ****Late Info-
Request of City Manager  



                             

“THE GARDEN CITY OF TWIN COUNTIES”

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council

FROM: E. Keith Hudson, Chief of Police

DATE: December 7, 2011

RE: Activity Report/November 2011         

=====================================================================

Monthly Stats:

A total of 469 arrests were made by the Milford Police Department during November 2011.  Of
these arrests, 154 were for criminal  offenses and 315 for traffic violations. Criminal offenses
consisted of 42 felonies and 112 misdemeanors.  Traffic violations consisted of 101 Special Duty
Radar, 3 Drunk-Driving charges, and 211 other.

Police officers investigated 42 accidents during the month (5 personal injury, and 37 property
damage) and issued 162 written reprimands.  In addition, they responded  to 1069 various
complaints including city requests and other agency assistance.

A total of $14,476.24 was collected in fines during November.
   
No False Alarm Violation Invoices were issued during the month of November.

Monthly Activities:

The Department’s School Resource Officer, Pfc. Joey Melvin, remains busy working on the
Comprehensive School Safety Plan for the district.    He also assisted one of the teachers at the
Middle School by holding a Slogan/Poster contest at the school.  A local business donated gift cards
to present to the winners.  

Pfc. Melvin also recently completed a Hunter Safety Course at the High School for student and some
staff.   In addition, he assisted in PBS assembly at Lulu Ross encouraging Safe Walker Habits.
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The department’s drug unit conducted a number of investigations that resulted in several drug arrests
and confiscated undisclosed drugs, drug paraphernalia, U.S. currency and the seizure of a motor
vehicle.

The department’s K-9 Unit remains a very useful addition to the department and continues to be
busy as was expected.

Five officers attended the three-day Delaware Hometown Security Conference held at Polytech.

Three officers attended a two-day “Conducting Complete Traffic Stops” seminar.

The department is currently conducting firearms re-certification as mandated by the Council on
Police Training.

EKH

vrk
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NOVEMBER ACTIVITY REPORT

NOV 2010         TOTAL 2010      NOV 2011     TOTAL 2011

Complaints 1084 12283 1069 13943 

Criminal Arrests 230 1741 154 1698

Felonies 130 607 42 480

Misdemeanors 100 1134 112 1202

Traffic Arrests 251 3016 315 5192

Special Duty Radar 13 236 101 2173

D.W.I. 7 83 3 76 

Other 195 2111 211 2845

Reprimands 160 1390 162 2024

Accidents 26 461 42 457

Personal Injury 5 72 5 53

Property Damage 21 398 37 404

Fatal (included in PI) 0 2 0 0

Parking Summons 7 74 7 92

Crime Prevention Checks 28 388 25 486

Fines Received $8,653.68 $100,170.86 $14,476.24 $140,405.49
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City Manager Report 







 
DELAWARE LEAGUE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

MONTHLY DINNER MEETING 
JANUARY 26TH, 2012 

SHERATON DOVER HOTEL 
1570 NORTH DUPONT HIGHWAY 

DOVER, DELAWARE 
**************************************************************************************************** 

  
 SOCIAL HOUR:  6:00 P.M. - 6:45 P.M. 
 OPENING:  6:45 P.M. - 7:00P.M.  
 DINNER:  7:00 P.M. - 7:20 P.M.  
 PROGRAM:  7:20 P.M. - 8:00 P.M.  

 
PROGRAM 

Margaret M. DiBianca, Esq., of Young Conway Stargatt & Taylor, LLP will deliver a timely 
presentation on the issue of Social Media in the workplace. Recently, there has been a shift in the way 
employers are approaching Facebook, Linked In, Twitter and other social media outlets, likely as a result of the 
frequency that social media issues arise in the workplace. Come out and learn about the latest legal challenges 
faced by employers and the best ways to prevent problems before they arise. This will be a valuable program 
and a must for Mayors, Council Members, and staff to guarantee that you stay informed on these changes that 
can affect local government policy. 
 

NEXT MEETING: FEBRUARY 23RD, 2012 
 

**************************************************************************************************** 
Special diets can be accommodated with 24 hours notice   
WE MUST HAVE YOUR RESERVATIONS NO LATER THAN January 12, 2012 
 
Mail To: Delaware League of Local Governments 

 P.O. Box 484 
 Dover, Delaware 19903 

 Telephone: 302-678-0991  Fax: 302-678-4777  
 
       will have          attendees 

(Municipality/County/Agency) 
 
PLEASE LIST THE NAMES OF THOSE ATTENDING 
  Name       Title 
      &       
      &       
      &       
      &       
      &       
      &       
 
(   ) Check enclosed for (   ) dinners @ $20.00 each   
(   ) Please direct bill the Municipality/County/Agency 
(   ) Payment will be made at the door 
(   ) Enclosed for (   ) dinners @ $20.00 each 







PUBLIC NOTICE
Notice of City of Milford Ordinance Review 

The following ordinance is currently under review by Milford City Council:

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF MILFORD,
CHAPTER 193, THEREOF, ENTITLED SOLID WASTE, BY AMENDING
CHAPTER 193, SOLID WASTE, TO INCLUDE A DEFINITION FOR YARD
WASTE IN ARTICLE I AND AMENDING §193-9 TO §193-12 AS
CONTAINED IN ARTICLE II.  

ORDINANCE 2011-28

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF MILFORD HEREBY ORDAINS:

Section 1.  Chapter 193, Article I, Collection and Disposal, Section §193-1, entitled Definitions, is
hereby amended by adding thereto the following definition:

YARD WASTE-- The part of solid waste consisting of leaves, grass clippings, twigs, small branches
(less than 4 ft. in length), shrubbery, prunings, and other garden material.

Section 2.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, Section §193.9, entitled Unlawful Acts; Containment
Required, is hereby amended by deleting and adding thereto the following new §193-9:

§193-9 - Unlawful Acts; Containment Required.
It shall be unlawful to deposit or place any leaves, grass trimmings, tree trimmings or other vegetative
debris or matter into any garbage container, recycling container, or a City street or drainage gutter.
Said materials shall be deposited in adequate containers /receptacles or confined in such a manner as
to prevent said material from being blown or washed into adjoining yard areas or streets except as
allowed in §193-10.

Section 3.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, Section §193.10, entitled Containers, is hereby
amended by deleting and adding thereto the following new §193-10:

§193-10 - Containers.  Leaves, grass clippings, tree trimmings, shrubbery or other garden and yard
waste or matter for collection by the City shall be placed in adequate containers so as to confine said
materials, except as allowed in §193-11. The container shall not exceed 30 gallons in capacity be
provided to the homeowner by the City and the homeowner will be responsible for the cost of said
container.

Section 4.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, §193.11, entitled Loose Leaf Curbside Collection, is
hereby deleted and repealed:

 § 193-11. - Loose leaf curbside collection.
[Added 10-11-2004 by Ord. No. 2004-102 [26] ] 
1. Loose leaves may also be raked and placed behind the curb for removal by the City's leaf vacuum

at no additional cost.
2. Leaves must be free of stones, branches, brush and grass clippings or they will not be collected

in this manner.
3. It is illegal to place, sweep or blow leaves and other yard waste into the street, storm drains or

catch basins.



Section 5.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, is hereby amended by adding a new §193.11, entitled
Collection Procedures, to read as follows:

§193-11. – Collection Procedures.
A. The City will provide for the collection of leaves, branches and tree trimmings from April 1

through October 31 of each year, provided that such refuse is deposited into the yard waste
containers as provided for in §193-10.  Disposal of leaves, branches and tree trimmings that
will not fit into the container shall be the responsibility of the property owner.

B. The City will provide for loose leaf curbside collection from November 1 through January 31
in accordance with the following conditions.  

1. Loose leaves shall be raked and placed behind the curb for removal by the City's leaf
vacuum.

2. Leaves must be free of stones, branches, brush and grass clippings or they will not
be collected.

3. It is illegal to place, sweep or blow leaves and other yard waste into the street, storm
drains or catch basins.

Section 6.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, is hereby amended by renumbering §193-12 to §193-
13.

Section 7.  Chapter 193, Article II, Yard Waste, is hereby amended by adding a new   §193.12, entitled
Collection Schedule, to read as follows:

§193-12. – Collection Schedule.
A. The City will collect yard waste as described in §193-11A once every other week. 
B. The loose leaf curbside collection as described in §193-11B will be collected once each week.
C. The City Manager shall divide the City into districts and shall schedule the collection of yard

waste in these districts on the day or days and at the times that shall be most efficient and
convenient to the City.  Adequate notice of the collection schedules shall be given to the
residents of the times and schedules and any changes thereto.

Section 8.  Dates.  
Introduction to City Council 11-14-11
Council Review: 11-28-11
Projected Adoption Date: 12-12-11
Ordinances are in effect ten days following adoption by City Council.
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TRANSMITTAL LETTER 
 

 
 
 
October 26, 2011 
 
The Honorable Mayor  
  and Members of the City Council 
City of Milford 
Milford, Delaware 
 
 
The Finance Department and City Manager's Office is pleased to submit the Annual 
Financial Report for the City of Milford, Delaware for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2011. 
 
This report is published to provide the City Council, City staff, our citizens, 
our bondholders and other interested parties with detailed information concerning 
the financial condition and activities of the City government.  Responsibility 
for both the accuracy of the presented data and the completeness and fairness of 
the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. 
 
To the best of our knowledge and belief the enclosed data is accurate in all 
material respects, and is organized in a manner designed to fairly present the 
financial position and results of operations of the City as measured by the 
financial activity of its various funds.  We also believe that all disclosures 
necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the City's 
financial affairs have been included. 
 

THE REPORT 
 
The accompanying financial section includes a Management and Discussion Analysis 
(MD&A), basic financial statements and combining and individual fund statements 
and schedules, as well as the independent auditors' report on the basic financial 
statements.  The MD&A is a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements.  This letter of transmittal is designed 
to complement and should be read in conjunction with the MD&A.  The City of 
Milford's MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent 
auditors. 
 
The Financial Section described above is prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles for governments as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and other professional associations, as 
applicable. 
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CITY PROFILE 
 
Location 
 
The City of Milford is the sixth largest city in population in the State of 
Delaware, serving over 9,000 residents within a rapidly growing corridor along 
U.S. Route 113/DE Route 1 in Kent and Sussex Counties.  Located on the Mispillion 
River, within both Kent and Sussex Counties, the City is approximately 95 miles 
from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 85 miles from Baltimore, Maryland, and 100 miles 
from Washington, D.C.  Locally, the City is 19 miles south of Dover, the State 
Capital. 
 
The City is a home rule city operating under the Council-Manager form of 
government.  The City Council is comprised of the Mayor and eight Council 
members, who enact local laws, determine policies and adopt the annual budget. 
The City Manager is appointed by the City Council and is responsible for the 
daily management of the City.  The Basic Financial Statements of the City include 
all government activities, organizations and functions for which the City is 
financially accountable as defined by the GASB.  Based on these criteria no other 
governmental organizations are included in this report. 
 

FINANCE 
 
Services Provided 
 
The City provides to its citizens those services that have proven to be necessary 
and meaningful and which the City at the least cost can provide.  Major services 
provided under general government and enterprise functions are: police 
protection, water and sewer services, electric services, sanitation services, 
park and recreational facilities, street improvements and general administrative 
services. 
 
Accounting System and Budgetary Control 
 
The City's accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained 
on a modified accrual basis with the revenues being recorded when available and 
measurable and expenditures being recorded when the services or goods are 
received and the liabilities are incurred.  Accounting records for the City's 
utilities and other proprietary activities are maintained on the accrual basis. 
 
In developing and maintaining the City's accounting system, consideration is 
given to the adequacy of the internal control structure.  Internal accounting 
controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
regarding (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or 
disposition; and (2) the reliability of financial records for preparing financial 
statements and maintaining accountability for assets.  The concept of reasonable 
assurance recognizes that (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the 
benefits likely to be derived, and (2) the evaluation of costs and benefits 
requires estimates and judgments by management. 
 
All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework.  We believe 
that the City's informal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and 
provide reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ii 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
The City charter provides that the City Council shall adopt the annual budget 
prepared by City Management.  This budget is reviewed by the City Council and is 
formally adopted by the passage of a budget ordinance.  The City Manager is 
authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between the items and departments within 
any fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund 
must be approved by the City Council. 
 
Budgetary control has been established at the general fund level.  Financial 
reports are produced showing budget and actual expenditures by line item, and are 
distributed monthly to City departmental and divisional management and to others 
upon request. 
 
Individual line items are reviewed and analyzed for budgetary compliance. 
Personnel expenditures are monitored and controlled at a position level and 
capital expenditures are monitored and controlled item by item.  Revenue budgets 
are reviewed monthly. 
 

OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Independent Audit 
 
The City Charter requires an annual audit of the accounts, financial records and 
transactions of the City by independent certified public accountants selected by 
the City Council.  This requirement has been complied with, and the independent 
auditors' report has been included in this report.  Additionally, the City of 
Milford’s Director of Finance hears and reviews all recommendations made by the 
independent auditors. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
         
 
 
This section of the City of Milford's annual financial report presents our 
discussion and analysis of the City's financial performance during the fiscal 
year that ended June 30, 2011.  Please read it in conjunction with the 
transmittal letter at the front of this report and the City's financial 
statements, which follow this section. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
· The City's total net assets increased throughout the course of the year. 

Net assets of our business type activities increased approximately $2.7 
million (or about 6.85%), while the net assets of the governmental 
activities decreased $423 thousand (or about 2.28%). 

 
· During the year, the City's governmental activities incurred total costs 

of $8.3 million.  Tax revenues generated $3.9 million, with the deficiency 
being made up through interfund transfers from the other funds, as well as 
investment earnings and special items. 

 
·  In the City's business-type activities, revenues increased $1.4 million 

while expenses increased approximately $184 thousand.  The main reason for 
this was an increase in billing by the City’s utility funds to the city’s 
residents due to increased consumption. 

 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This annual report consists of three parts - management's discussion and analysis 
(this section), the basic financial statements together with required 
supplementary information, and additional reports issued by the City's 
independent auditor in connection with an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards.  The basic financial statements include two kinds 
of statements that present different views of the City: 
 
· The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that 

provide both long-term and short-term information about the City's overall 
financial status. 

 
· The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on 

individual parts of the City government, reporting the City's operation in 
more detail than the government-wide statements. 

 
· The governmental funds statements tell how general government services 

like public safety were financed in the short-term as well as what remains 
for future spending. 
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· Proprietary fund statements offer short- and long-term financial 

information about the activities the government operates like businesses, 
such as the water and sewer system. 

 
· Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the financial 

relationship-like the agency trust-in which the City acts solely as a 
trustee or agent for the benefit of others, to whom the resources in 
question belong. 

 
· Required supplementary information includes a budgeting comparison 

schedule with respect to the City's General Fund. 
 
The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information 
in the financial statements and provide more detailed data. 
 
Government-wide Statements 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the City as a whole using 
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The 
statement of net assets includes all of the government's assets and liabilities. 
All of the current year's revenues and expenses are accounted for in the 
statement of activities regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net assets and how they have 
changed.  Net asset - the difference between the City’s assets and liabilities is 
one way to measure the City’s financial health, or position. 
 
· Increases or decreases in the City's net assets are an indicator of 

whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating, respectively. 
 
· To assess the overall health of the City you need to consider additional 

nonfinancial factors such as changes in the City's property tax base and 
the condition of the City's roads. 

 
 The government - wide financial statements of the City are divided into 

two categories: 
 
· Governmental activities - Most of the City's basic services are included 

here, such as the police, fire, public works, and parks departments, and 
general administration.  Property taxes and state and federal grants 
finance most of these activities. 

 
· Business-type activities - The City charges fees to customers to help it 

cover the costs of certain services it provides.  The City's water, sewer, 
electric and trash services are included here. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

- 4 – 



 

 

 
 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City's 
most significant funds - not the City as a whole.  Funds are accounting devices 
that the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for 
particular purposes. 
 
···· Some funds are required by State law and by bond covenants. 
 
···· The City Council establishes other funds to control and manage money for 

particular purposes or to show that it is properly using certain taxes and 
grants. 

 
The City has three kinds of funds: 
 
···· Governmental funds - Most of the City's basic services are included in 

governmental funds, which focus on (1) how cash and other financial assets 
that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the balances 
left at year-end that are available for spending.  Consequently, the 
governmental funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that 
helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources 
that can be spent in the near future to finance the City's programs. 
Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus 
of the government-wide statements, we provide additional information at 
the bottom of the governmental funds statement, or on the subsequent page, 
that explains the relationship (or differences) between them. 

 
···· Proprietary funds - Services for which the City charges customers a fee 

are generally reported in proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds, like the 
government-wide statements, provide both long- and short-term financial 
information. 

 
 - In fact, the City's enterprise funds (one type of proprietary fund) 

are the same as its business-type activities, but provide more detail 
and additional information, such as cash flows. 

 
 - We use internal service funds (the other kind of proprietary fund) to 

report activities that provide supplies and services for the City's 
other programs and activities. 

 
···· Fiduciary and agency funds - The agency fund accounts for assets held by 

the city in a trustee capacity for fees collected on behalf of Kent County 
as well as for the Carlisle Fire Department.  We exclude these activities 
from the City's government-wide financial statements because the City 
cannot use these assets to finance its operations. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
Net Assets 
 
The City's combined net assets increased between fiscal year 2010 and 2011 
approximately $2.3 million.  In comparison, last year net assets increased $1.4 
million. 
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Changes in Net Assets 
 
The City’s total revenues increased $1.4 million to $42 million.  The total cost 
of all programs and services increased approximately $231 thousand, (or 
approximately 0.6 percent).  The City's expenses cover a range of services, with 
about $5.2 million related to public safety and public works. 
 
The narrative that follows considers the operations of governmental and business-
type activities separately. 
   
Business-type Activities 
 
Revenues of the City's business-type activities increased about 4 percent to $36 
million, and expenses increased .6 percent to $31.4 million. 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS 
 
As the City completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund 
balance of $6 million, a $349 thousand decrease from the prior year.  
 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS  
 
Over the course of the year, the City Council revised the City budget several 
times.  These budget amendments fall into three categories: 
 
· Amendments and supplemental appropriations approved shortly after the 

beginning of the year to reflect the actual beginning account balances. 
 
· Increase in appropriations to prevent budget overruns. 
 
Actual general fund revenues exceeded budgeted revenues by $107 thousand (2.5%) 
Actual expenditures were $215 thousand more than the total $7.5 million budgeted. 
  
 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2011, the City had invested $39.4 million in a broad 
range of capital assets, including police equipment, buildings, park facilities, 
roads, bridges, and water and sewer lines.  This amount represents a net increase 
(including additions and deductions) of $2.7 million, or 7.4 percent, over last 
year. 
 
Long-term Debt 
 
At year-end, the City had $18.9 million in bonds and notes outstanding.  More 
detailed information about the City's long-term liabilities is presented in Note 
10 to the financial statements.  There were several significant transactions in 
the City’s debt obligations during the fiscal year, including issuance of Series 
A of 2011 bonds in the amount of $9,000,000 for electric and sewer capital 
projects, and Series B of 2011 bonds in the amount of $3,720,000 for the purpose 
of current funding of the Series 2002 bonds. 
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Governmental 

Activities

Business-type 

Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and Equivalents 2,967,308$            17,727,478$        20,694,786$     

Investments 3,598,650              14,365,904          17,964,554       

Receivables 324,351                 3,700,936 4,025,287         

Inventories -                             1,146,696 1,146,696         

Other Assets 95,460                   243,920 339,380            

Capital Assets

Land, Infrastructure and Other Assets not 

being depreciated 8,876,212 1,461,358            10,337,570       

Utility System -                             38,548,908          38,548,908       

Buildings 8,095,313 6,109,747            14,205,060       

Equipment and Furniture 4,662,584 5,471,825 10,134,409       

Construction in Progress 230,229                 -                           230,229            

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (9,041,126)             (25,025,360)         (34,066,486)      

Total Capital Assets 12,823,212            26,566,478          39,389,690       

Total Assets 19,808,981$          63,751,412$        83,560,393$     

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 291,935$               2,512,390$          2,804,325$       

Deferred Revenues -                             -                           -                        

Long-Term Liabilities

Due Within One Year

Bonds, Capital Leases and Contracts 33,919                   772,553               806,472            

Compensated Absences 96,948                   53,283                 150,231            

Customer Deposits -                         344,450 344,450            

Due in More Than One Year

Bonds, Capital Leases and Contracts 199,188 17,943,992 18,143,180       

Compensated Absences 516,767 213,119 729,886            

Total Liabilities 1,138,757              21,839,787          22,978,544       

NET ASSETS

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related

   Debt 12,590,105            7,849,933            20,440,038       

Restricted 730,699                 1,833,976            2,564,675         

Unrestricted 5,349,420              32,227,716          37,577,136       

Total Net Assets 18,670,224$          41,911,625$        60,581,849$     

CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

Functions/Programs Expenses

Charges for 

Services

Operating Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants and 

Contributions

Governmental 

Activities

Business-Type 

Activities Total

Primary Government

Governmental Activities

General Government 1,786,979$         30,229$           140,036$                     -$                              (1,616,714)$                  (1,616,714)$     

Public Safety 4,391,516           -                   326,162                       -                                (4,065,354)                    (4,065,354)       

Public Works 802,362              -                   246,855                       -                                (555,507)                       (555,507)          

Culture and Recreation 1,332,901           114,715           -                               -                                (1,218,186)                    (1,218,186)       

Total Governmental Activities 8,313,758           144,944           713,053                       -                                (7,455,761)                    (7,455,761)       

Business-Type Activities

Electric Fund 23,999,264         28,083,448     50,000                         -                                4,134,184             4,134,184         

Water Fund 1,719,995           2,278,721        -                               -                                558,726                558,726            

Sewer Fund 3,033,504           3,245,170        -                               -                                211,666                211,666            

Trash Fund 1,005,820           1,130,791        -                               -                                124,971                124,971            

Internal Service Fund 1,643,575           1,656,394        -                               -                                12,819                  12,819              

Total Business-Type Activities 31,402,158         36,394,524     50,000                         -                                5,042,366             5,042,366         

Total Primary Government 39,715,916$       36,539,468$   763,053$                     -$                              (7,455,761)$                  5,042,366$           (2,413,395)$     

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property Taxes, Levied for General Purposes 3,282,292                     -                        3,282,292         

Franchise Taxes 366,818                         -                        366,818            

Public Service Taxes 222,778                         -                        222,778            

Impact Fees -                                 60,560                  60,560              

Unrestricted Investment Earnings 58,583                           74,792                  133,375            

Miscellaneous 493,228                         8,946                     502,174            

Special item  - Gain on Sale of Asset 109,440 -                        109,440            

Transfers 2,500,000                     (2,500,000)            -                    

Total General Revenues, Special Items, and Transfers 7,033,139                     (2,355,702)            4,677,437         

Change in Net Assets (422,622)                       2,686,664             2,264,042         

Net Assets - Beginning (restated) 19,092,846                   39,224,961           58,317,807       

Net Assets - Ending 18,670,224$                 41,911,625$         60,581,849$     

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Program Revenue Primary Government

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2011

General Fund

Special Revenue 

Fund

Parks and 

Recreation Fund

Total Governmental 

Funds

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,310,292$        1,603,566$          53,450$                    2,967,308$              

Investments 1,998,650          1,600,000            -                                3,598,650                

Taxes Receivable, Net of Allowance for 

Doubtful Accounts 97,332               60,926                 -                                158,258                   

Other Receivables 160,407             5,686                   -                                166,093                   

Prepaid Expenses 95,460               -                           -                                95,460                     

Total Assets 3,662,141$        3,270,178$          53,450$                    6,985,769$              

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 134,010$           38,073$               3,125$                      175,208$                 

Compensated Absences - Current 96,948               -                           -                                96,948                     

Other Accrued Expenses 165,478             -                           -                                165,478                   

Other Payables 2,856                 -                           828                           3,684                       

Deferred Revenue -                         -                                -                               

Total Liabilities 399,292             38,073                 3,953                        441,318                   

Fund Balances:

Restricted -                         730,699               -                                730,699                   

Nonspendable 95,460               -                           -                                95,460                     

Assigned -                         2,501,406            49,497                      2,550,903                

Unassigned 3,167,389          -                           -                                3,167,389                

Total Fund Balances 3,262,849          3,232,105            49,497                      6,544,451                

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 3,662,141$        3,270,178$          53,450$                    6,985,769$              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

Total Fund Balance, Governmental Funds 6,544,451$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and therefore are not reported in 

this  fund financial statement, but are reported in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Assets. 12,823,212

Certain other long-term assets are not available to pay current period expenditures and therefore are not reported 

in this fund financial statement, but are reported in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Assets. 52,435             

Some liabilities, (such as Notes Payable, Capital Lease Contract Payable, Long-term Compensated Absences, 

and Bonds Payable ), are not due and payable in the current period and are not included in the fund financial 

statement, but are included in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Assets. (749,874)          

Net Assets of Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Assets 18,670,224$    

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

General Fund

Special 

Revenue 

Fund

Parks and 

Recreation 

Fund

 Total 

Governmental 

Funds 

REVENUES

Property Taxes 2,998,316$        -$                   -$                     2,998,316$           

Real Estate Transfer Taxes -                         283,976         -                       283,976                

Fees and Fines 167,809             -                     -                       167,809                

Licenses and Permits 199,009             -                     -                       199,009                

Engineering & Inspection Fees 222,778             -                     -                       222,778                

Intergovernmental 140,036             573,017         -                       713,053                

Charges for Services 30,229               -                     114,715           144,944                

Investment Earnings 36,849               21,734           -                       58,583                  

Miscellaneous 478,583             7,861             6,784               493,228                

Total Revenues 4,273,609          886,588         121,499           5,281,696             

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General Government 1,201,102          -                     -                       1,201,102             

Public Safety 3,983,443          408,073         -                       4,391,516             

Public Works 802,362             -                     -                       802,362                

Culture and Recreation 1,231,441          -                     101,460           1,332,901             

Debt Service:

Principal 36,966               -                     -                       36,966                  

Interest 9,480                 -                     -                       9,480                    

Capital Outlay 271,940             214,641         -                       486,581                

Total Expenditures 7,536,734          622,714         101,460           8,260,908             

(Deficiency) Excess of Revenues Over 

Expenditures (3,263,125)         263,874         20,039             (2,979,212)            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In 3,152,060          -                     -                       3,152,060             

Transfers Out -                         (652,060)        -                       (652,060)               

Proceeds of Refunding Bonds 233,107             -                     -                       233,107                

Debt Service - Principal on Refunded Bonds (230,347)            -                     -                       (230,347)               

Issuance Costs on Refunding Bonds (2,760)                -                     -                       (2,760)                   

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses 3,152,060          (652,060)        -                       2,500,000             

SPECIAL ITEM

Proceeds from Sale of Land 130,470             -                     -                       130,470                

Net Change in Fund Balances 19,405               (388,186)        20,039             (348,742)               

Fund Balances - Beginning 3,243,444 3,620,291 29,458 6,893,193             

Fund Balances - Ending 3,262,849$        3,232,105$    49,497$           6,544,451$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds: (348,742)$      

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial 

resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenses in the statement of revenues, 

expenditures and changes in fund balance. (52,044)          

Governmental funds report outlays for capital assets as expenditures because such outlays use 

current financial resources.  In contrast,  the Statement of Activities reports only a portion of the 

outlay as expense.  The outlay is allocated over the assets' estimated useful lives as depreciation 

expense for the period.  This is the amount by which depreciation $524,353 exceeded capital 

outlays $486,581 in the current period. (37,772)          

Governmental funds report the entire net sales price (proceeds) from sale of an asset as revenue 

because it provides current financial resources.  In contrast, the Statement of Activities reports 

only the gain on the sale of the assets.  Thus, the change in net assets differs from the change in 

fund balance by the cost of the asset sold (21,030)          

Governmental funds report repayment of bond principal as an expenditure, In contrast, the 

Statement of Activities treats such repayments as a reduction in long-term liabilities. 36,966

Change in net assets of governmental activities (422,622)$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH VARIANCES)

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

Budgeted Amounts

Actual 

Amounts, 

Budgetary 

Basis

Variance with 

Final Budget - 

Positive 

(Negative)

Original Final

REVENUES

Property Taxes 2,914,600$      2,914,600$      2,998,316$      83,716$          

Fees and Fines 169,000           169,000           167,809           (1,191)             

Licenses and Permits 190,500           190,500           199,009           8,509              

Engineering and Inspection Fees 180,400           413,788           222,778           (191,010)         

Intergovernmental -                       -                       140,036           140,036          

Charges for Services 41,000             41,000             30,229             (10,771)           

Investment Earnings 25,000             25,000             36,849             11,849            

Miscellaneous 412,575           412,575           478,583           66,008            

Total Revenues 3,933,075        4,166,463        4,273,609        107,146          

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General Government 1,253,115        1,259,515        1,201,102        58,413            

Public Safety 3,783,060        3,783,060        3,983,443        (200,383)         

Public Works 742,825           742,825           802,362           (59,537)           

Culture and Recreation 1,058,615        1,117,615        1,231,441        (113,826)         

Debt Service:

Principal 36,050             36,050             36,966             (916)                

Interest and Other Charges 10,670             10,670             9,480               1,190              

Capital Outlay 203,400           371,388           271,940           99,448            

Total Expenditures 7,087,735        7,321,123        7,536,734        (215,611)         

Deficiency of Revenues Over Expenditures (3,154,660)       (3,154,660)       (3,263,125)       (108,465)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In 3,204,300        3,204,300        3,152,060        (52,240)           

Transfers Out -                       -                       -                       -                      

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses 3,204,300        3,204,300        3,152,060        (52,240)           

SPECIAL ITEM

Proceeds from Sale of Land -                       -                       130,470           130,470          

Net Change in Fund Balances 49,640             49,640             19,405             (30,235)           

Fund Balances - Beginning 3,243,444 3,243,444 3,243,444 -                      

Fund Balances - Ending 3,293,084$      3,293,084$      3,262,849$      (30,235)$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2011

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Electric Water Sewer Trash Total

Internal 

Service Fund

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,098,221$    2,594,693$      4,312,425$      532,136$       17,537,475$    190,003$       

Investments 7,703,919        3,798,488        2,863,497        -                 14,365,904      -                 

 Accounts Receivable, net of

     allowance for doubtful accounts 2,979,640        214,622           335,708           131,330         3,661,300        -                 

Other Receivables 3,301               10,393             25,442             500                39,636             -                 

Inventories 1,054,300        41,762             -                   -                 1,096,062        50,634           

Deferred Bond  Issue Costs 147,477           29,659             66,784             -                 243,920           -                 

Total Current Assets 21,986,858      6,689,617        7,603,856        663,966         36,944,297      240,637         

Non-Current Assets:

Capital Assets:

Land and Improvements 1,405,351        27,369             28,638             -                 1,461,358        -                 

Utility System 10,593,827      12,734,716      15,220,365      -                 38,548,908      -                 

Buildings and Improvements 5,850,346        202,734           45,821             10,846           6,109,747        -                 

Equipment and Furniture 2,293,995        625,892           382,432           1,064,818      4,367,137        1,104,688      

Less Accumulated Depreciation (11,323,334)     (6,117,746)       (6,441,584)       (866,676)        (24,749,340)     (276,020)        

Total Non-Current Assets 8,820,185        7,472,965        9,235,672        208,988         25,737,810      828,668         

Total Assets 30,807,043$    14,162,582$    16,839,528$    872,954$       62,682,107$    1,069,305$    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 2,054,255$      38,591$           228,718$         32,446$         2,354,010$      84,112$         

Salaries Payable 28,498             6,049               6,048               7,257             47,852             -                 

Other Accrued Expenses 26,416             -                   -                   -                 26,416             -                 

Customer Deposits 344,450           -                   -                   -                 344,450           -                 

Compensated Absences 21,204             3,720               3,720               3,459             32,103             21,180           

Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable 172,917           359,636           240,000           -                 772,553           -                 

Total Current Liabilities 2,647,740        407,996           478,486           43,162           3,577,384        105,292         

Non-Current Liabilities:

Compensated Absences 84,822             14,869             14,869             13,847           128,407           84,712           

Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable 8,449,043        3,156,632        6,338,317        -                 17,943,992      -                 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 8,533,865        3,171,501        6,353,186        13,847           18,072,399      84,712           

Total Liabilities 11,181,605$    3,579,497$      6,831,672$      57,009$         21,649,783$    190,004$       

NET ASSETS

    Invested in Capital Assets,

     net of related debt 198,225$         3,956,697$      2,657,355$      208,988$       7,021,265$      828,668$       

 Restricted for Capital Improvements 257,828           912,632           663,516           -                 1,833,976        -                 

Unrestricted 19,169,385      5,713,756        6,686,985        606,957         32,177,083      50,633           

Total Net Assets 19,625,438$    10,583,085$    10,007,856$    815,945$       41,032,324$    879,301$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Electric Water Sewer Trash Total

Internal 

Service Fund

REVENUES

Charges for Services 27,697,694$     2,240,621$       3,245,170$       1,078,718$       34,262,203$      1,656,394$      

Miscellaneous 385,754            38,100             -                   52,073             475,927             -                  

Total Operating Revenues 28,083,448       2,278,721         3,245,170         1,130,791         34,738,130        1,656,394        

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal Services 2,021,633         368,632            394,425            436,110            3,220,800          1,122,158        

Contractual Services 20,933,716       69,303             1,896,621         342,591            23,242,231        19,491            

Utilities 8,678                244,045            29,905             -                   282,628             4,712              

Repairs and Maintenance 386,275            33,208             34,558             90,039             544,080             219,179          

Other Supplies and Expenses 64,407              502,267            265,824            99,256             931,754             272,515          

Insurance Claims and Expenses 39,936              7,779               3,111               6,924               57,750               5,520              

Depreciation 405,824            302,183            307,001            30,900             1,045,908          -                  

Total Operating Expenses 23,860,469       1,527,417         2,931,445         1,005,820         29,325,151        1,643,575        

Operating Income 4,222,979         751,304            313,725            124,971            5,412,979          12,819            

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest and Investment Revenues 43,565              14,507             15,782             938                  74,792               -                  

Impact Fees -                    39,487             21,073             -                   60,560               -                  

Miscellaneous Revenue 8,946                -                   -                   -                   8,946                 -                  

Operating Grants and Contributions 50,000              -                   -                   -                   50,000               -                  

Interest Expense (138,495)           (192,578)          (81,299)            -                   (412,372)            -                  

Miscellaneous Expenses (300)                  -                   (20,760)            -                   (21,060)              -                  

Total Non-Operating (Expenses) Revenues (36,284)             (138,584)          (65,204)            938                  (239,134)            -                  

Income Before Transfers 4,186,695         612,720            248,521            125,909            5,173,845          12,819            

Transfers In -                    -                   -                   -                   -                    -                  

Transfers Out (2,500,000)        -                   -                   -                   (2,500,000)         -                  

Changes in Net Assets 1,686,695         612,720            248,521            125,909            2,673,845          12,819            

Total Net Assets - Beginning 17,938,743       9,970,365         9,759,335         690,036            38,358,479        866,482          

Total Net Assets - Ending 19,625,438$     10,583,085$     10,007,856$     815,945$          41,032,324$      879,301$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Electric Water Sewer Trash Total

Cash Flows from Operations:

Receipts from Customers 27,554,528$     2,540,909$       3,208,254$      1,066,520$    34,370,211$     

Other Operating Receipts 411,778            40,695              354,033           52,073           858,579            

Payments to Suppliers (21,399,015)      (868,813)           (2,304,631)       (528,023)        (25,100,482)     

Payments to Employees (2,014,263)        (369,584)           (393,378)          (434,846)        (3,212,071)       

Customer Deposits 6,940                -                   -                   -                 6,940               

Insurance Premiums Paid (39,936)             (7,779)               (3,111)              (6,924)            (57,750)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 4,520,032         1,335,428         861,167           148,800         6,865,427         

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:

Operating Transfers In -                    -                   -                   -                 -                   

Operating Transfers (Out) (2,500,000)        -                   -                   -                 (2,500,000)       

Net Cash Used in Non-Capital

     Financing Activities (2,500,000)        -                   -                   -                 (2,500,000)       

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing

Activities:

Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment (2,168,052)        (384,693)           (566,871)          (137,757)        (3,257,373)       

Proceeds from Bond Issuance 5,578,162         -                   3,530,458        -                 9,108,620         

Debt Issue Costs (84,894)             -                   (54,025)            -                 (138,919)          

Principal Paid on Bonds (170,000)           (397,183)           (253,385)          -                 (820,568)          

Interest Paid on Bonds (136,954)           (99,863)             (81,299)            -                 (318,116)          

Non-Operating Capital 58,946              -                   -                   -                 58,946             

Impact Fees Received -                    39,487              21,073             -                 60,560             

Net Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Capital 

and Related Financing Activities 3,077,208         (842,252)           2,595,951        (137,757)        4,693,150         

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Net Proceeds/Purchases from Sales and 

  and Maturities of Short-Term Investments 85,310              45,220              (221,689)          -                 (91,159)            

Income on Investments 43,565              14,507              15,782             938                74,792             

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 128,875            59,727              (205,907)          938                (16,367)            

Net Increase in Cash and 

Cash Equivalents 5,226,115         552,903            3,251,211        11,981           9,042,210         

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 4,872,106         2,041,790         1,061,214        520,155         8,495,265         

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 10,098,221$     2,594,693$       4,312,425$      532,136$       17,537,475$     

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash

Flows from Operating Activates:

Operating Income 4,222,979$       751,304$          313,725$         124,971$       5,412,979$       

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash

   Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 405,824 302,183            307,001           30,900           1,045,908         

Effect of Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts Receivable, net (117,142)           302,883            317,117           (12,198)          490,660            

Inventory 70,176              (9,062)               -                   -                 61,114             

Accounts Payable (76,115)             (10,928)             (77,723)            3,863             (160,903)          

Salaries Payable 3,615                (2,139)               (140)                 789                2,125               

Customer Deposits 6,940                -                   -                   -                 6,940               

Liability for Compensated Absences 3,755                1,187                1,187               475                6,604               

Net Cash Provided by (Used in)Operating Activities 4,520,032$       1,335,428$       861,167$         148,800$       6,865,427$       

Noncash Capital Financing Activities

Issuance of Series B of 2011 Refunding Bonds -$                  2,504,664$       1,077,406$      -$               3,582,070$       

Current Refunding of Series 2002 Bonds -                    (2,475,005)        (1,064,648)       -                 (3,539,653)       

Deferred Bond Issuance Costs -                    (29,659)             (12,758)            -                 (42,417)            

Net Cash -$                  -$                 -$                 -$               -$                 

Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment 2,168,052         384,693            1,169,645        137,757         3,860,147         

Financed by Delaware Revolving Loans -                    -                   (602,774)          -                 (602,774)          

Net Cash 2,168,052         384,693            566,871           137,757         3,257,373         

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AGENCY

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents           42,290 

Total Assets  $       42,290 

LIABILITIES 

Due to Other Governments           42,290 

Total Liabilities  $       42,290 

CITY OF MILFORD, DE

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
 
Introduction 
 
The City of Milford, Delaware (the "City"), operates under a Council-Manager form 
of government and provides the following services as authorized by its charter 
adopted on May 24, 1977: public safety (police), highways and streets, 
sanitation, health and social services, electric, water, parks and recreation, 
public improvements, planning and zoning, and administrative services. 
 
The City complies with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) applicable 
to state and local governments.  The City's reporting entity applies all relevant 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  Proprietary Funds 
apply Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and Accounting 
Principles Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless 
those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which 
case, GASB prevails. 
 
The accounting and reporting framework and the more significant accounting 
policies and practices are discussed in subsequent sections of this Note.  The 
remainder of the notes is organized to provide explanations, including required 
disclosures, of the City's financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
Financial Reporting Entity 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the City's primary government and 
component units (if applicable) over which the City exercises significant 
influence.  Significant influence or accountability is based primarily on 
operational or financial relationships with the City (as distinct from legal 
relationships). 
  
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (statement of net assets and statement 
of activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the 
primary government and its component units.  For the most part, the effect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental 
activities, which normally are supported by taxes and inter-governmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses 
of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses 
are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or activity. 
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers who directly benefit from goods 
or services provided by a given function or activity and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or activity.  Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided by governmental funds and proprietary 
funds.  Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the 
proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for 
which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as 
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Financial resources used to acquire capital assets are capitalized in the 
government-wide financial statements, rather than reported as expenditures. 
Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as a liability in the government-wide 
financial statements, rather than as another financing source.  Amounts paid to 
reduce long-term debt of the City are reported as a reduction of the related 
liability, rather than as a expenditure in the government-wide financial 
statements. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter (within sixty days) to pay liabilities 
of the current period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt-service expenditures are 
recorded only when payment is due.  Also, compensated absences are recorded as 
expenditures when paid. 
 
Sales taxes, franchise taxes, permits and fees, recreation fees, fines and court 
fees, other miscellaneous revenues and earned but unreimbursed state and federal 
grants associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current 
fiscal period.  Property taxes are measurable as of the date levied (assessed) 
and are recognized as revenues when they become available.  Available means when 
due, or past due, and received within the current period or collected soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.  All other 
revenues are considered to be measurable and available only when the City 
receives cash. 
 
The City reports the following governmental funds: 
 
General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the City.  It is 
used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted 
for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds - The special revenue funds account for revenues derived 
from earmarked revenue sources.  Separate self-balancing funds are established to 
account for each restricted special revenue source. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The City reports the following governmental funds (Continued): 
 
Parks and Recreation Fund – The parks and recreation fund accounts for revenues 
derived from activities provided by the City's parks and recreation department, 
which include youth and adult sports leagues, summer camps and clinics, special 
events and festivals as well as fund raising activities. 
 
The City reports the following proprietary funds: 
 
Enterprise Funds - The Enterprise Funds of the City include the electric, water, 
sewer and trash funds.  Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) 
which are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business 
enterprises; where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, 
including depreciation) of providing goods and services to the general public on 
a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or 
(b) where the governing body had decided that periodic determination of revenues 
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital 
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other 
purposes. 
 
Internal Service Fund - Consists of five internal funds which are used to account 
for the financing of goods and services provided by one department to other 
departments of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
 
The City reports the following fiduciary fund types: 
 
Agency Fund – The agency fund accounts for assets held by the City in a trustee 
capacity for fees collected on behalf of Kent County and the Carlisle Fire 
Department. 

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Actual results may differ from 
those estimates. 
 
Encumbrances 
 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other 
commitments for the expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that 
portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of formal 
budgetary integration in governmental funds.  Encumbrances as of the year end are 
reported as reservations of fund balance since they do not constitute 
expenditures or liabilities but serve as authorization for expenditures in the 
subsequent year.  As of the end of the period, the City had no such encumbrances. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued) 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 
The City Council follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data 
reflected within the financial statements: 
 
(1) In accordance with the City Charter, prior to June 1, the City Manager 

submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the fiscal 
year commencing the following July 1.  The operating budget includes 
proposed expenditures and the means of financing them for the upcoming 
year, along with estimates for the current year.  The City Charter 
requires that the budget be submitted in summary form.  In addition, more 
detailed line item budgets are included and provided for administrative 
control. 

 
(2) Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comment. 
 
(3) Prior to June 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an 

ordinance. 
 
(4) The City Manager is required by the City Charter to present a monthly 

report to the City Council explaining any variances from the approved 
budget. 

 
(5) Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device 

during the year for the general fund. 
 
(6) The budget for the general fund is adopted on a basis consistent with 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to 
governments. 

 
(7) The budgets for the special revenue fund are approved on a program by 

program basis by the funding agencies. 
 
(8) Budgetary amendments are approved by City Council as required throughout 

the year.  If revenues in excess of those estimated in the budget become 
available, the Council, by ordinance, may make supplemental appropriations 
for the year up to the amount of such excess. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, checking and money market accounts, 
and short-term investments generally maturing in three months or less. 
 
Receivables 
 
Receivables are shown net of the allowances for estimated uncollectible accounts. 
The allowance for uncollectible accounts is based upon historical data 
established according to experience and other factors which in the judgment of 
City officials should be recognized in estimating possible losses.  Management 
believes that they have adequately provided for future probable losses. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
Advances between funds are accounted within the appropriate interfund receivable 
and payable accounts.  These advances (reported as "due from/to other funds") are 
considered "available spendable resources." 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventory is carried at cost for the water fund, and at replacement cost for the 
electric fund, and is determined using the first-in, first out (FIFO) method. 
 
Inventory in the general fund consists of gasoline and diesel fuel held for 
consumption.  Inventory in the internal service fund consists of garage and meter 
supplies held for consumption.  The inventory acquisitions are recorded in the 
inventory accounts initially and charged to expenditures when used.  The cost 
value of such inventory has been presented on an average cost basis. 
 
Deferred Bond Discount and Costs 
 
The deferred bond discounts and costs are being amortized over the respective 
lives of the bonds, using the straight-line method. 
 
Fixed Assets 
 
Fixed assets which include land, buildings, improvements, equipment, vehicles and 
infrastructure assets, consisting of roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets 
and sidewalks, drainage and lighting systems, are reported on the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 
statements and the proprietary fund financial statements.  Fixed assets are 
recorded at historical cost, if purchased, and at fair market value, if donated. 
The capitalization threshold for all fixed assets is $5,000.  No dollar threshold 
is set for land.  Fixed asset depreciation is recognized using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives. 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
A maximum of 30 days of vacation and 130 days of sick leave may be accumulated by 
each employee except for those hired before 1992, whose carry-over is not 
limited.  The City accrues a liability for compensated absences which meet the 
following criteria: 
 
 - The City's obligation relating to employees' rights to receive compensation 

for future absences is attributable to employees' services already rendered. 
 - The obligation relates to rights that vest or accumulate. 
 - Payment of the compensation is probable. 
 - The amount can be reasonably estimated. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Compensated Absences (Continued) 
 
In accordance with the above criteria, the City has accrued a liability for 
vacation and sick pay which has been earned but not taken by City employees.  For 
governmental funds, the liability for compensated absences is reported as a long 
term liability in the government-wide financial statements since it is 
anticipated that none of the liability will be liquidated with expendable 
available financial resources.  The liability for compensated absences is 
recorded in proprietary fund types as an accrued liability in accordance with 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 43, Accounting for Compensated 
Absences. 
 
Long-Term Liabilities 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and in the proprietary fund types in 
the fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are 
reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business type 
activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets.  Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the bonds using the straight-line method.  Bonds payable are recorded net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issuance costs are reported as 
deferred charges and are amortized over the life of the related debt.  In the 
fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premium and 
discounts, as well as debt issuance costs, during the current period.  The face 
amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received 
on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not 
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service 
expenditures. 
 
Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Net Assets: 
 
· Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - consist of the historical 

cost of capital assets less accumulated depreciation and less any debt that 
remains outstanding that was used to finance those assets. 

 
 · Restricted net assets - consist of net assets that are restricted by the 

City’s creditors (for example, through debt covenants), by the state 
enabling legislation (through restrictions on shared revenues), by grantors 
(both federal and state), and by other contributors (including those who 
have donated to the City’s parks endowment). 

 
 · Unrestricted - all other net assets are reported in this category. 
 
Governmental Fund Balances: 
 
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as 
follows: 
 
· Non-spendable - Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in a   

non-spendable form or because they are legally or contractually required to 
be maintained intact. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Governmental Fund Balances (Continued): 
 
· Restricted - Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of 

the City Charter, the City code, state or federal laws, or externally 
imposed conditions by grantor or creditors. 

 
· Committed - Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined 

by a formal action by City Council ordinance or resolution.  This included 
the Budget Reserve Account. 

 
· Assigned - Amounts that are designated by the Mayor for a particular purpose 

but are not spendable until a budget ordinance is passed or there is a 
majority vote approval (for capital projects or debt service) by City 
Council. 

 
·   Unassigned - All amounts not included in other spendable classifications. 
 
Inter-Fund Transactions 
 
During the course of normal operations, the City has transactions between funds 
to subsidize operations in certain funds, to allocate administrative costs, to 
construct assets, to distribute grant proceeds, etc.  These transactions are 
generally reflected as operating transfers, which are transfers from a fund 
authorized to receive certain revenues to the fund through which the resources 
are to be expended. 
 
Interest Capitalization 
 
Interest costs incurred for the acquisition and/or construction of capital assets 
are capitalized based on the guidelines established by the Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 34, Capitalization of Interest Cost. 
 
The interest capitalization period begins when the following conditions are 
present: 
 
 - Expenditures for the capital asset have been made. 
 - Activities that are necessary to get the capital asset ready for its intended 

use are in progress. 
 - Interest expense is being incurred. 
 
The amount of interest expense to be capitalized is based on the weighted-average 
amount of accumulated expenditures for the period multiplied by the interest rate 
for the obligation incurred specifically to finance the construction of capital 
assets.  No capitalizable interest was incurred during the year ended June 30, 
2011. 
 
Changes in Beginning Fund Balances/Net Assets 
 
The City discovered during the current year that certain infrastructure assets 
reflected in its government-wide financial statement, as well as an asset in its 
electric fund had not been properly depreciated in prior years.   
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 

NOTE 1  - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED): 
 
Changes in Beginning Fund Balances/Net Assets (Continued): 
 
The following summarizes the changes in beginning fund balances/net assets as of 
the beginning of the fiscal year: 
 
    Special 
    Revenue   Electric  Governmental 
     Fund          Fund        Activities   
 
Fund Balance/Net Assets, beginning of year, 
 as previously stated  $ 3,043,762  $18,791,882  $25,271,861 
 
Deferred Revenue reclassed to restricted 
 fund balance      576,529         -        576,529 
 
Decrease resulting from recognition of 
 depreciation in prior years not 
  previously recognized         -     (    853,139) (  6,755,544) 
 
Fund Balance/Net Assets, beginning of year, 
  as restated  $ 3,620,291   $17,938,743    $19,092,846   
 

 
NOTE 2  - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
Explanation of Certain Differences between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet 
and the Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets. 
 
The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between total 
governmental fund balances and net assets of governmental activities in the 
government-wide statement of net assets.  This difference primarily results from 
the long-term economic focus of the statement of net assets versus the current 
financial resources focus of the governmental fund balance sheets. 

 
 Capital Asset Differences 
 
 When capital assets (land, building, improvements and equipment) are 

purchased or constructed for use in governmental fund activities, the costs 
of those assets are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.  
However, these costs are reported as capital assets in the statement of net 
assets.  The details of these differences are presented below: 

 
    Land, Infrastructure and Other Assets  $ 8,876,212  
  Building and Improvements    8,095,313 
  Equipment and Furniture    4,662,584  
  Construction in Progress      230,229 
  Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (  9,041,126) 
  Net Capital Asset Difference  $12,823,212  
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 2  - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-SIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(CONTINUED): 
 
Explanation of Certain Differences between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet 
and the Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets (Continued). 
 
 Long-Term Liability Differences 
 
 Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, 

therefore, are not reported in the governmental fund balance sheet.  All 
liabilities (both current and long-term) are reported in the statement of net 
assets.  The details of these differences are presented below: 

 
    Long-Term Portion of Compensated Absences  $ 516,767  
  Current Portion of Bonds Payable     33,919  
  Long-Term Portion of Bonds Payable    199,188  
  Total Current and Long-Term Liability Differences  $ 749,874  
 
 
Explanation of certain differences between the Governmental Fund Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-Wide 
Statement of Activities. 
 
The governmental fund financial statements include a reconciliation between 
changes in fund balances in the governmental funds and changes in net assets in 
the government-wide statement of activities.  The difference primarily results 
from the long-term economic focus of the statement of activities versus the 
current financial resources focus of the governmental fund financial statements. 
 
 Capital Outlay Differences 
 
 Capital Outlays are reported as expenditures in the statement of revenues, 

expenditures and changes in fund balances.  They are reported as capital 
assets, with the costs allocated over the useful lives of the assets, as 
depreciation, in the statement of activities.  The details of these 
differences are reported below: 

  
  Capital Outlay  $ 486,581   
  Depreciation (  524,353) 
  Net Difference ($  37,772) 
 
 
Long-Term Debt Issuance and Repayment Differences 
 
 When long-term debt is issued, it is reported as an other financing source. 

Repayments are reported as expenditures in the statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balance.  Issuance of debt is reported as a 
long-time liability and repayments are reported as reductions of those 
liabilities in the statement of activities.  The detail of this difference is 
reported below: 

 
   Principal Repayment  $ 36,966    
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 

 
NOTE 3  - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The City has a number of financial instruments.  The City estimates that the fair 
value of all financial instruments as of June 30, 2011, does not differ 
materially from the aggregate carrying values of its financial instruments 
recorded in the accompanying balance sheet and statement of net assets. 
 
NOTE 4  - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the City’s 
deposits may not be returned to it.  The City does not have a deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk.  As of June 30, 2011, all of the City’s bank balance of 
$20,556,314 was either insured or fully collateralized. 
 
NOTE 5  - REAL ESTATE TAXES 
 
The tax on real estate in the City area for the fiscal year 2011 was [46 mills 
($1,000 of assessed valuation)] as levied by the City Council.  The City bills 
and collects its own real estate taxes.  Delinquent taxes are liened by the City. 
The schedules of real estate taxes levied for the fiscal year 2011 are: 
 
 July 1                   - Levy Date (effective date of enforceable lien) 
 August 1 - September 30  - Face Payment Period 
 October 1                - 1% Penalty for each subsequent month not paid 
 
NOTE 6  - IMPACT FEES 
 
All new water, sewage, and electric services within the City of Milford are 
required to pay a one-time "impact fee."  The purpose of the fee is to compensate 
for the impact of new users to the existing water and sewage systems, in order to 
provide for future expansion.  All impact fees collected are restricted for 
capital improvements, as specified and approved by City Council that will be 
required as the result of population growth.  The cost of the impact fee for 
water, sewage, and electric for the year ended June 30, 2011 was $2,075, $1,097, 
and $600 per Estimated Discharge Usage (EDU), respectively.   
 
The City has recorded as revenue in the proprietary funds Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets and in the government-wide Statement of 
Activities the impact fee monies, as required by GASB No. 33. Resulting 
restricted net assets at June 30, 2011 is $1,833,976. 
 
NOTE 7  - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the course of normal operations, the City has numerous transactions 
between funds including expenses or expenditures and transfers of resources 
primarily to provide services.  The financial statements of the governmental and 
proprietary fund types generally reflect such transactions as transfers. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 

NOTE 7  - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transfers that are not considered operating or residual equity transfers give rise to 
individual fund, interfund receivables and payables.  As of June 30, 2011, there are no 
outstanding interfund balances. 
 
NOTE 8  - INTERGOVERNMENTAL RECEIVABLES 
 
Amounts due from other governmental units represent receivables for revenues earned by the 
City or collections made by another governmental unit on behalf of the City.  
 
NOTE 9  - FIXED ASSETS 
 
The following schedule presents the capital activity of the governmental activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2011: 
     
                           Year Ended June 30, 2011                            
 
       Balances   Adjustments    Balances 
         Description            07/01/10      Additions   Deletions  & Transfers     06/30/11   
City Department: 
 Land  $ 6,662,799  $    -  $ 18,994  $     -     $ 6,643,805 
 Buildings and Improvements    4,137,131       -      -        -    4,137,131 
 Vehicles and Equipment    3,343,808    156,320    20,357        -    3,479,771 
 Construction in Progress      135,596      94,633       -            -          230,229  
 Total City Depreciation   14,279,334    250,953    39,351        -       14,490,936 
 Accumulated Depreciation (    967,991) (  324,103) (  18,321) (  3,196,942) (  4,470,715) 
 
 Total City Department, Net  $13,311,343  ($  73,150)  $ 21,030  ($ 3,196,942)  $10,020,221  
 
Street Department: 
 Land Improvements  $ 1,951,118  $ 123,487  $   -     $  157,802   $ 2,232,407 
 Buildings and Improvements    4,115,984       -      - (   157,802)    3,958,182 
 Vehicles and Equipment    1,095,808      87,005       -            -        1,182,813  
 Total City Department    7,162,910    210,492      -         -    7,373,402 
 Accumulated Depreciation (    811,559) (  121,096)      -     ( 3,637,756) (  4,570,411) 
 
 Total Street Department, Net  $ 6,351,351   $  89,396   $   -     ($3,637,756)  $ 2,802,991   

     
 
                           Year Ended June 30, 2011                            
 
       Balances   Adjustments    Balances 
         Description            07/01/10      Additions   Deletions  & Transfers     06/30/11   
Total Government  
  Capital Assets: 
 Land  $ 8,613,917  $ 123,487  $ 18,994  $  157,802   $ 8,876,212 
 Buildings and Improvements    8,253,115       -      - (   157,802)    8,095,313 
 Vehicles and Equipment    4,439,616    243,325    20,357        -    4,662,584 
 Construction in Progress      135,596      94,633       -            -          230,229  
 
 Total Governmental 
  Capital Assets   21,442,244    461,445    39,351        -       21,864,338 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation (  1,779,550) (  445,199) (  18,321) ( 6,834,698) (  9,041,126) 
 
 Total Governmental 
  Capital Assets, Net  $19,662,694   $  16,246   $ 21,030  ($6,834,698)  $12,823,212   
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 9  - FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following schedule presents the capital activity of the business-type activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2011:  
     
                           Year Ended June 30, 2011                            
 
       Balances   Adjustments    Balances 
         Description            07/01/10       Additions   Deletions  & Transfers     06/30/11   
Electric Fund: 
 Land  $   312,981  $1,092,370  $   -    $     -     $ 1,405,351 
 Buildings and Improvements    5,838,126      12,220       -        -    5,850,346 
 Electric System    9,686,361     907,466      -        -   10,593,827  
 Vehicles and Equipment    2,137,997      155,998       -            -        2,293,995  
 
 Total Fixed Assets   17,975,465   2,168,054      -           -       20,143,519 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation ( 10,064,371) (   405,824)      -     (   853,139) ( 11,323,334) 
 
 Net Book Value  $ 7,911,094   $1,762,230   $   -     ($  853,139)  $ 8,820,185   
 
 
Water Fund: 
 Land  $    27,369  $     -     $   -    $     -     $    27,369 
 Buildings and Improvements      202,734        -          -        -      202,734 
 Water System   12,395,663     339,053      -        -   12,734,716  
 Vehicles and Equipment      580,252       45,640       -            -          625,892  
 
 Total Fixed Assets   13,206,018     384,693      -           -       13,590,711 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation (  5,815,563) (   302,183)      -            -     (  6,117,746) 
 
 Net Book Value  $ 7,390,455   $   82,510   $   -      $     -      $ 7,472,965   
 
 
Waste Water Fund: 
 Land  $    28,638  $     -     $   -    $     -     $    28,638 
 Buildings and Improvements       45,821        -          -        -       45,821 
 Waste Water System   14,050,720   1,169,645      -        -   15,220,365  
 Vehicles and Equipment      382,432         -          -            -          382,432  
 
 Total Fixed Assets   14,507,611   1,169,645      -           -       15,677,256 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation (  6,134,583) (   307,001)      -            -     (  6,441,584) 
 
 Net Book Value  $ 8,373,028   $  882,644   $   -      $     -      $ 9,235,672   
 

 
 
                           Year Ended June 30, 2011                            
 
       Balances   Adjustments    Balances 
         Description            07/01/10      Additions   Deletions  & Transfers     06/30/11   
Trash Fund: 
 Buildings and Improvements  $    10,846  $    -  $   -     $     -     $    10,846 
 Vehicles and Equipment      927,061     137,757       -            -        1,064,818  
 
 Total Fixed Assets      937,907    137,757      -           -        1,075,664 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation (    835,777) (   30,899)      -            -     (    866,676) 
 
 Net Book Value  $   102,130   $ 106,858   $   -      $     -      $   208,988   
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

    JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 9  - FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following schedule presents the capital activity of the business-type activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2011:  
         
                           Year Ended June 30, 2011                            
 
       Balances   Adjustments    Balances 
         Description            07/01/10       Additions   Deletions  & Transfers     06/30/11   
Total Enterprise Funds: 
 Land  $   368,988  $1,092,370  $   -    $     -     $ 1,461,358 
 Buildings and Improvements    6,097,527      12,220       -        -    6,109,747 
 Electric System    9,686,361     907,466      -           -   10,593,827 
 Water System   12,395,663     339,053      -            -       12,734,716 
 Waste Water System   14,050,720   1,169,645      -           -       15,220,365 
 Vehicles and Equipment    4,027,742      339,395       -            -        4,367,137  
 
 Total Fixed Assets   46,627,001   3,860,149      -           -       50,487,150 
 
 Accumulated Depreciation ( 22,850,294) ( 1,045,907)      -     (   853,139) ( 24,749,340) 
 
 Net Book Value  $23,776,707   $2,814,242   $   -     ($  853,139)  $25,737,810   
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 10  - LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS 
 
 
Long-Term Debt Schedule 
 
Long-Term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2011 is as follows: 
 
 
Governmental Activities: 
 
       Amounts 
   Beginning      Ending   Within 
    Balance      Additions    Reductions     Balance     One Year  
 
 Bonds Payable: 
  Series 2002 General 
   Obligation Bonds  $   267,313  $      -     ($  267,313)  $      -     $   -    
 
 Series B 2011 General 
  Obligation Bonds         -         227,292        -          227,292    32,700 
 
 Bond Premium         -           5,815        -        5,815     1,219 
 
 Other Liabilities: 
  Compensated Absences      637,997          -     (    24,282)      613,715     96,948  
 
 Governmental Activities 
  Long-Term Liabilities  $   905,310   $   233,107  ($  291,595)  $   846,822   $130,867  
 
 
Business Activities: 
 
 Bonds Payable: 
  Series 1992A Capital 
   Appreciation Bond  $ 1,670,000 $       -      $     -      $ 1,670,000  $   -    
 
 Revolving Funds Loans – 
  State of Delaware    1,138,393         - (    80,111)    1,058,282    82,532 
 
  State of Delaware 2010      337,585      600,353        -      937,938      - 
 
 Series 2002 General 
  Obligation Bonds    4,107,688         - ( 4,107,688)         - 
 
 Series 2005 General 
  Obligation Bonds    3,310,000         - (   170,000)    3,140,000   175,000 
 
 Series A of 2011 General 
  Obligation Bonds         -    9,000,000        -    9,000,000    - 
   
 Series B of 2011 General 
  Obligation Bonds         -        3,492,708         -        3,492,708    512,300  
   10,563,666   13,093,061 ( 4,357,799)   19,298,928   769,832 
 
Add:  Bond Premium 
      2011 Bonds         -      197,982        -      197,982    27,054 
 
Less: Bond Discount and 
      Deferred Amount on 
      Refunding (    881,037)         -         100,672  (    780,365) (  24,333)  
 
Total Bonds Payable    9,682,629   13,291,043 ( 4,257,127)   18,716,545   772,553 
 
Other Liabilities: 
 Compensated Absences      241,107        25,295         -          266,402     53,283  
 
Business-Type Activities 
 Long-Term Liabilities  $ 9,923,736   $13,316,338  ($4,257,127)  $18,982,947   $825,836 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 10  - LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
 Series A of 1992 Bond Issue 
 
The 1992 General Obligation Enterprise Bonds, Series A, in the amount of $839,697 
represents the remaining principal portion, net of unamortized appreciation of 
$649,349 with variable interest rates of 5.50% to 6.95%.  The bonds were used to 
defease in-substance a portion of the 1989 Bond Issue and to finance additional 
waste water system improvements.  The general obligation bonds have various 
maturity dates through April 2018. 
 
The following schedule is a summary of the 1992 Bond Issue, Series A with a 
balance outstanding of $1,670,000.  Bonds mature on April 1, and October 1, and 
interest is paid on those dates. 
 

Capital Appreciation Bonds 
 
            Year   
           Ending         Principal          Unamortized 
          June 30,          Amount           Appreciation         Rate  
 
            2011          $    -                77,556              ... 
            2012               -                83,028              ... 
            2013               -                88,886              ... 
            2014               -                95,157              ... 
            2015            420,000             94,561            6.90% 
            2016            465,000             69,334            6.95% 
            2017            395,000             43,294            6.95% 
            2018            390,000             19,089            6.95% 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 10  - LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

SERIES OF 2002 BOND ISSUE 
 

On October 1, 2002, the City issued $6,675,000 in General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds with interest rates ranging between 1.35% and 4.35%.  The City issued the 
bonds to advance refund $3,435,000 of the total $7,115,000 outstanding Series of 
1996 General Obligation Bonds with an interest rate of 4.7%.  Also, $2,865,000 of 
the $4,765,000 outstanding Series of 1992 General Obligation Bonds with an 
interest rate of 6.4% was currently refunded on the same date.  The City used a 
portion of the net proceeds to refund $3,435,000 of the Series 1996 General 
Obligation Bonds.  In addition, the City used the remaining portion of the net 
proceeds to provide for the $2,865,000 defeasance of the Series of 1992 A-Capital 
Interest Bonds. 
 
The advanced and current refunding reduced total debt service payments over the 
then remaining term of 18 years by approximately $830,000, which resulted in an 
economic gain (difference between the present value debt service payments on the 
old and new debt) of $744,000. 
 
The following is a schedule of maturities of the 2002 bond issue: 
 
           Year 
          Ending        Principal                     Interest           
         June 30,        Amount            Rate                Amount       
 
            
           2011          605,000           3.20%                155,163 
           2012          620,000           3.30%                134,640 
           2013          650,000           3.40%                112,563 
           2014          665,000           3.55%                 88,723 
           2015          275,000           3.70%                 71,126 
           2016          235,000           3.85%                 61,133 
           2017          240,000           4.00%                 51,573 
           2018          255,000           4.05%                 41,421 
           2019          265,000           4.15%                 30,499 
           2020          275,000           4.25%                 18,886 
           2021          290,000           4.35%                  6,453 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 10  - LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
General Obligation Bonds (Continued) 

 
SERIES OF 2005 BOND ISSUE 

 
On June 1, 2005, the City issued $3,790,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
with the average rate of interest not to exceed 4.50%.  The City issued the bonds 
to advance refund the total amount outstanding under the Series of 2000 General 
Obligation Bonds of $3,580,000 with interest rates ranging from 4.70% to 5.65% 
per annum.  The advanced refunding reduced total debt service payments over the 
then remaining term of 20 years by approximately $384,000. 
 
The following is a schedule of maturities of the 2005 bond issue: 
 
           Year 
          Ending        Principal                   Interest           
         June 30,        Amount            Rate                Amount       
 
            
           2011          170,000           3.20%                127,995 
           2012          175,000           3.35%                122,555 
           2013          180,000           3.45%                116,692 
           2014          185,000           3.55%                110,482 
           2015          195,000           3.65%                103,915 
           2016          200,000           3.70%                 96,798 
           2017          210,000           3.80%                 89,398 
           2018          220,000           3.85%                 81,418 
           2019          225,000           3.90%                 72,948 
           2020          230,000           4.00%                 64,172 
           2021          245,000           4.00%                 54,972 
           2022          250,000           4.15%                 45,172 
           2023          265,000           4.15%                 34,798 
           2024          275,000           4.25%                 23,800 
           2025          285,000           4.25%                 12,112 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 10  - LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

NOTES PAYABLE – STATE OF DELAWARE 
 
In connection with its Wastewater Collection System Expansion Project, the City 
entered into a financing agreement with the Delaware Water Pollution Control 
Revolving Fund, acting by and through the Delaware Department of Natural 
Resources and Environmental Control, a public agency of the State of Delaware. 
Under terms of the agreement, interest only payments were due semi-annually at a 
rate of three percent (3%) per annum on the amounts that had been advanced to 
fund the project.  Semi-annual payments of principal and interest (at 3%) are due 
through scheduled maturity of July 1, 2022.  The note is secured by the full 
faith and credit of the City.  Scheduled maturities of the note are as follows: 
 
 Year Ending 
   June 30,   
 
     2011  $   82,532  
     2012      85,027 
     2013      87,597 
     2014      90,245  
     2015      92,972 
     Thereafter     619,909  
 
   $1,058,282  
 
The City has also received additional funds under this program in connection with 
the second part of its System Expansion Project which is still in progress.  The 
balance on the related note as of June 30, 2011 is $937,938.  Semi-annual 
interest payments are due during construction at an annual rate of 2.0%.  
Amortized loan payments shall begin semi-annually after the completion of the 
project. 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 

 
SERIES A OF 2011 BOND ISSUE 

 
On June 30, 2011, the City issued $9,000,000 in General Obligation Bonds in 
connection with planned electric and sewer capital projects, with interest rates 
ranging from 2.0% to 4.4%.  The bonds are scheduled to mature January 1, 2037. 
Annual principal payments are scheduled to commence January 1, 2013, with semi-
annual interest payments commencing January 1, 2012.  The bonds had an original 
issue premium of $108,620, the unamortized portion of which is included in the 
balance reflected in the financial statements at June 30, 2011. 
 
The following is a schedule of maturities of the Series A 2011 bond issue: 
 
 

Year       

Ending  Principal  Interest 

June 30,  Total  Rate  Total 

 
2012   $    -     2.00%   $ 159,887 

2013     280,000  2.00%     318,007 

2014     285,000  2.00%     312,407 

2015     290,000  2.00%     306,707 

2016     295,000  2.00%     300,906 

2017     300,000  2.00%     295,007 

2018     310,000  3.00%     289,007 

2019     320,000  3.00%     279,707 

2020     330,000  3.00%     270,107 

2021     340,000  3.00%     260,207 

2022     350,000  3.50%     250,007 

2023     365,000  3.50%     237,758 

2024     375,000  3.50%     224,983 

2025     390,000  3.75%     211,857 

2026     405,000  3.75%     197,234 

2027     420,000  4.00%     182,045 

2028     435,000  4.00%     165,245 

2029     455,000  4.05%     147,845 

2030     470,000  4.05%     129,419 

2031     490,000  4.05%     110,382 

2032     500,000  4.25%      90,539 

2033     290,000  4.25%      69,288 

2034     305,000  4.25%      56,962 

2035     320,000  4.40%      44,000 

2036     335,000  4.40%      29,920 

2037     345,000  4.40%      15,180 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 

SERIES B OF 2011 BOND ISSUE 
 
On June 30, 2011, the City issued $3,720,000 in General Obligation Bonds with 
interest rates ranging between 2.0% and 3.0%.  The City issued the bonds in order 
to currently refund $3,770,000 of outstanding 2002 Refunding Bonds with interest 
rates ranging from 3.2% to 4.35%.  The Series B 2011 General Obligation Bonds are 
scheduled to mature January 1, 2021, with annual principal payments commencing 
January 1, 2012.  Semi-annual interest payments are also scheduled to commence 
January 1, 2012. 
 
The current refunding reduced total debt service payments over the next 10 years 
by $276,000.  This results in an economic gain (difference between the present 
values of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $259,000. 
 
The following is a schedule of maturities of the Series B 2011 bond issue: 
 
  

Year       

Ending  Principal  Interest 

June 30,  Amount  Rate  Amount 

       

2012   $ 545,000  2.00%   $ 43,792 

2013     685,000  2.00%     76,200 

2014     690,000  2.00%     62,500 

2015     290,000  2.00%     48,700 

2016     240,000  2.00%     42,900 

2017     235,000  3.00%     38,100 

2018     250,000  3.00%     31,050 

2019     255,000  3.00%     23,550 

2020     260,000  3.00%     15,900 

2021     270,000  3.00%      8,100 
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2011 
 
NOTE 11  - PENSION PLAN 

 
County and Municipal Pension Plan 

 
Effective January 1, 2005, City Council elected, under provisions of the Delaware 
Code, to participate in the County and Municipal Police/Firefighter and the 
General Employees Retirement Funds.  In connection with this election, the City 
agreed to fund prior service cost up to a maximum of fifteen (15) years for all 
eligible employees.  The total cost to the City for the funding of the prior 
service cost was $3,260,008.  Such funding was provided for from the City’s 
reserves in its Water and Sewer Funds, as well as from assets of its existing 
retirement fund.  This cost was included within the fiscal June 30, 2005 
financial statements, and was allocated to all of the City’s funds based on the 
actuarial data that was provided in order to determine the total prior service 
cost. 
 
Along with the prior service cost, the City is obligated to pay the ongoing 
regular contribution rate (6.15% for fiscal year 2010 and 6.2% for fiscal year 
2011).  For sworn officers, the contribution rate was 13.7% for fiscal year 2010 
and 13.9% for fiscal year 2011.  These contribution rates are expected to 
gradually increase over the next several years.  In addition, eligible employees 
are required to contribute 3% of their earnings in excess of $6,000 and an 
additional 2% of their earnings in excess of the Social Security wage base. 
 
NOTE 12  - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
In the normal course of business, there are outstanding various commitments and 
contingent liabilities in addition to the normal encumbrances for the purchase of 
goods and services.  The City does not anticipate losses as a result of these 
transactions. 
 
Government Grant/Award Programs 
 
The City participates in a number of federal and state assisted programs.  These 
programs are subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their 
representatives.  Accordingly, the City's compliance with applicable program 
requirements will be established at some future date.  The amount, if any, of 
expenditures, not already disclosed, which may be disallowed by the granting 
agencies cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
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Government Auditing Standards Reports 



Federal

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor CFDA Contract Award

Pogram Title Number Number Award Period Amount Expenditures

FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE:

 Federal Grantor: Department of Justice

 Pass-Through: Office of Community

   Policing Activities

 Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants 16.710 2009CKWX0664 9/1/2009 - 8/31/2011 486,040$   278,350$           

Total 16.710 278,350             

 Federal Grantor: Environmental Protection Agency

 Pass-Through: State of Delaware Revolving Fund -

  Division of Water Resources

 Capitalizion Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds 66.458 PAB#12000033 12/30/09 - 12/30/2029 2,835,586  547,088             

Total 66.458 547,088             

 Federal Grantor: Environmental Protection Agency

 Pass-Through: State of Delaware Department of Agriculture

 Forest Health Protection 10.680 07-00-11420004-064 5/1/2007 - 12/31/10 10,784       6,859                 

Total 10.680 6,859                 

 Federal Grantor: U.S. Department of Energy

 Replacement of Street Lighting with Red Lights 81.128 DE-EE0002906 12/15/09 - 12/14/10 50,000       50,000               

Total 81.128 50,000               

Total Federal Assistance 882,297$           

City of Milford, DE

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 

 
 

1. General Information: 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards presents the 
activities in all the federal financial assistance programs of City of 
Milford, DE.  All financial assistance received directly from federal 
agencies as well as financial assistance passed through other governmental 
agencies or not-for-profit organizations are included on the schedule. 

 
2. Basis of Accounting: 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented 
using the accrual basis of accounting.  The amounts reported in this 
schedule as expenditures may differ from certain financial reports 
submitted to federal funding agencies due to those reports being submitted 
on either a cash or modified accrual basis of accounting. 
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PUBLIC NOTICE
Notice is hereby given the following ordinance is under review by the 

Milford Planning Commission and Milford City Council as noted:

ORDINANCE 2011-29
Conditional Use Modification/Siobain-VI, LLC

An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Milford, Delaware Authorizing the Modification of a Conditional
Use Allowing a Planned Unit Development on 19.15 +/- acres for Davis, Bowen and Friedel, Incorporated on behalf
of Siobain-VI, LLC  on the south side of Airport Road, 1,600 feet west of US Route 113, Milford, Delaware, formerly
known as Cascades. Approved Number of Units 84; Proposed Number of Units 142.  Tax Map MD 16-173.00-01 -
04.03; -04.04; -04.05; -04.06; -04.07; -04.08; -04.09; -04.10; -04.11; -04.12; -04.13; -04.14; -04.15; -04.16; -04.17;
-04.18.

Whereas, the City of Milford has been requested by  Davis, Bowen and Friedel, Incorporated on behalf of Siobain-VI,
LLC to allow a Modification to a Conditional Use for a Planned Unit Development; and 

Whereas, the Planning Commission reviewed the application at a Public Hearing on December 20, 2011 and has
presented the item to be considered by the City Council; and

Whereas, the City Council held an advertised public hearing on January 23, 2012 to allow public comment on the
application.  

Now, Therefore, the City of Milford hereby ordains:

Section 1.  Upon the adoption of this ordinance, Siobain-VI, LLC is hereby granted a modification to the conditional
use permitting a Planned Unit Development in accordance with the application, approved plans and any conditions
set forth;

Section 2. Construction or operation shall be commenced within one year of the date of issuance or the conditional
use permit becomes void.

Section 3. Dates.

Introduction to City Council: 12-12-11 
Planning Commission Review & Public Hearing: 12-20-11
City Council Review & Public Hearing: 01-23-12 

This ordinance shall take effect and be in force ten days after its adoption.  

Ordinance 2011-29 is scheduled for adoption, with or without amendments, at the Council Meeting on January 23,
2012. Should you have questions, please contact the City of Milford Planning and Zoning Department at 302-424-
3712 Extension 308.

















FY 2011‐2012 Budget Amendment:

Transfer $7000 from the retiree medical account#101‐1010‐413‐20‐80 and $23,000 from tax
department salaries account#101‐1085‐417‐10‐10. 

Transfer to administration salaries and benefits accounts 101‐1010‐413‐10‐10 through 413‐20‐70.



As part of an action item from the Economic Development Strategic Plan prepared for the City of Milford 
earlier this year, the City of Milford applied for and received a USDA grant to engage in a feasibility study 
for establishing a business accelerator. 
 
The objective of the accelerator is to provide information and resources to small businesses within 
Sussex and Kent Counties that helps them to expand their operations and create additional jobs for the 
area.   The feasibility study includes the following content: 
 

• A description of the existing small businesses within the state; 
• Benchmarking of selected “best practice” accelerators and small business support in 

communities throughout North America; 
• Determining an ideal approach to supporting the growth of small businesses; 
• Defining the impact it could have on the local economy and providing recommendations to 

move the concept forward in Delaware.   
• There are also some efforts involved in applying the entrepreneurship concept into the local 

education system. 

The final report is presented to the City Council and is recommended to be approved based on its 
thoroughness in addressing the defined content. 
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 SECTION 1  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

Delaware currently has an abundance of organizations and resources to support small business.  However, the 

challenge  is  in providing easy access  to  the  right organization and  resource – equipping and enabling  small 

business owners to become “intelligent consumers” of no‐cost and low‐

cost local, state and federal resources.  Small business owners have no 

time  to  locate multiple web  sites  or  review  capabilities  of  individual 

organizations and resources.   They may not be well versed  in mapping 

out a plan for growth, performing a feasibility study for a new product, 

or developing  a business plan  to  secure  financing.    They  are  enabled 

when  an  individualized  “map”  is made  available with  the  straightest 

path  toward  the  resources  that  will  lead  to  access  to  capital,  workforce  development,  marketplace 

intelligence, regulatory and tax  issues, etc. To compete, Delaware companies require contemporary tools to 

move forward rapidly and thoughtfully.   

Key Objective for Feasibility Study 

The objective of this study is to evaluate the use of a Business Accelerator in helping existing small businesses 

grow  in Delaware.   The  contemporary business accelerator as a  concept based on  the  convergence of  two 

initiatives – business incubation that began in the 1980’s and business acceleration from the dot‐com era. The 

roots  of  business  incubation  began  when  communities,  and  later  universities,  wanted  to  support  small 

business growth by offering low cost space and access to local business services.  It is a good idea but too static 

to make  a  radical  impact.   During  the dot‐com  era,  investors would  acquire high potential  companies  and 

provide  them with  financial and  technical  resources as well as mentorship  to build  them up  in a short  time 

frame.  The resultant higher performing business could then be offered at an escalated price. 

Identifying Best Practices and Applying Them to Delaware 

Based on community benchmarking (see Appendix A‐1),  there are a number of successful ongoing efforts 

around the country that are stimulating small business growth with an integrated business accelerator 

approach with low cost space and business services as well as access to financial and technical resources, 

mentoring, process improvements and many other critical resources for 

emerging businesses.  The benchmarking efforts also identified different 

levels and types of support required for start‐up businesses versus 

emerging/small businesses that seek to expand.  

Within Kent and Sussex Counties there are thousands of small/emerging 

businesses (see Appendix A‐2), including 85 manufacturers with 10‐99 

employees.  Based on a recent survey of manufacturing firms, 

primarily in Sussex and Kent Counties, there are a number of firms 

that have an interest in a business accelerator approach while 

others offered to help smaller and emerging businesses to 

expand into specific markets. 

Establishing a Business Accelerator 

The project team has outlined the key elements of an optimum business accelerator  in the back of Section 3 

along with  recommended  actions  for  implementation.    The  strategy  for  developing  and  implementing  the 

business incubator is to leverage existing organizations, volunteers and resources that are supplemented by a 

few additional tools and information sources accessed through a single internet access portal. 

“A  business  accelerator  is more 
than an organization, a web site, 
or a facility; it is an environment 
that  converges  together  all  the 
elements that  facilitate business 
growth.” 
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 FIGURE 1: SMALL BUSINESS ACCELERATOR 

Get answers on how to:
• Map a new product development 
process.

• Develop a business feasibility study 
and plan.

• Access technical information.
• Get a grant or loan.
• Enter a new market.

Internet 
Access Portal

Access to 
Experienced and

Committed 
People

Access to 
Processes and
Techniques

Access to 
Key Resources

Success Factors for a Business 
Accelerator:

• Facilitated by an available, 
willing and capable 
organization.

• Existence of a local 
entrepreneurial culture.

• Support from corporate and 
local business services 
sponsors.

• Individuals willing to serve on 
business review committees.

• Access to needed resources 
including capital,  labor, low 
cost real estate, etc.

• Responsive local and state 
governments.

 
The  eight‐step  process  for  “building”  a  business  incubator  is  outlined  below  and  detailed  in  Section  3.   A 

critical outcome of this effort is not only to have access to information and resources but to enhance a culture 

of entrepreneurship that spreads across the state. 

1. Select organization to oversee business accelerator 

2. Establish a Resource Content Team 

3. Establish a Board of Directors 

4. Develop web access portal and support documentation 

5. Identify individuals to act as business “guides” 

6. Identify courses, seminars and mentors (on‐going) 

7. Establish financial/technical‐based review teams 

8. On‐going promotion of business accelerator offerings 

The  report also evaluates  the potential  for  incorporating entrepreneurship  into  the  local  school  curriculum 

(see  Section  5  and  Appendix  A‐5)  that  has multiple  positive  attributes,  including  (1) makes  learning more 

interesting and relevant, (2) builds personal development skills and (3) reaches at‐risk students and give them 

a reason and vision to participate and learn.  

Setting Goals and Monitoring Progress 

Charting the success of a business incubator is an important factor.  Specific goals that need to be established 

and tracked include the following: 

• Number of businesses that use the portal. 

• Number of businesses that are supported by individual services. 

• Amount of loans and grants obtained. 

• Number of jobs created through the process (seek to gain 500 new jobs within the first five (5) years). 

• Number of students that engage in the entrepreneurship program. 

• Anecdotal feedback on company and student successes. 
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 SECTION 2  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

Introduction 

In December of 2010, Moran, Stahl & Boyer (MS&B) completed an Economic Development Strategic Plan for 

the City of Milford, DE.   A key recommendation  in the plan emphasized the need to support small/emerging 

businesses.    The  City  realized  that  their  economic  growth will  primarily  be  derived  from  the  expansion  of 

existing small business and  the start‐up of new  firms  rather  than seeking  to  locate  larger companies  to  the 

area.  This is also a reflection of the State of Delaware’s economy as well as the national economy.  From this 

discussion, one of the local employers (First State Manufacturing) expressed an interest in helping other small 

businesses in the area.  As they were in the process of expanding their own production space,  they acquired 

and refurbished an existing building  in the City of Milford and made extra space available for small business 

development and related activities. 

As a team, the City of Milford, First State Manufacturing and others shared a vision of establishing a business 

accelerator that would benefit the Milford area as well as Sussex and Kent Counties, and ultimately the entire 

State of Delaware while serving as a model for the nation.  The initial focus would be on helping existing small 

businesses (<100 employees) expand while also providing access to resources for those seeking to start‐up a 

business.    Also  included  in  the  project  is  identifying ways  to  apply  entrepreneurship  into  the  local  school 

curriculum  as  a means  of  enriching  the  overall  education  experience while  engaging  at‐risk  students  that 

disrupt the schools for lack of personal vision. 

The City of Milford applied  for and  received a USDA grant  to engage  in a  feasibility study  for establishing a 

business  accelerator  that would  benefit  small  businesses within  Sussex  and  Kent  Counties  and  leveraged 

throughout the State and to other communities. The project  includes defining the existing small businesses, 

benchmarking  selected  “best practice”  accelerators  and  small business  support  in  communities  throughout 

North America,  determining  an  ideal  approach  to  supporting  the  growth  of  small  businesses,  defining  the 

impact  it could have on the  local economy and providing recommendations to move the concept forward  in 

Delaware.    There  are  also  some  efforts  involved  in  applying  the  entrepreneurship  concept  into  the  local 

education system. 

Defining “Small Business” 

In  general  terms,  a  “small/emerging  business”  has  less  than  100 

employees.    The  Small  Business  Administration  (SBA)  expands  the 

definition above 500+ employees depending on the industry in order for 

the smaller employers within an industry to qualify for grants, contracts 

and other opportunities. 

The  largest number of companies and the overall  level of employment 

within  most  industries/economic  segments  are  comprised  of  small 

businesses.  Providing more than 70 percent of all new jobs, a majority 

of growth in the U.S. economy comes from small businesses as they (1) 

expand existing product lines; (2) develop new products; and (3) seek to 

penetrate new and existing markets.  

 It should also be emphasized that not all small businesses are capable of or have the desire to grow.   Some 

owners want to stay at their current levels for multiple reasons.  Other businesses do not have the capability 

or know‐how  to  restructure  their organization of growth or  to expand  their operations with new products, 

further market penetration or  the ability  to engage  in new markets.   A business accelerator  typically has a 

Profile of Small Business

• Size of firm based on revenue 
and/or employment

• Type of industry 

• Level of technology  required

• Markets served

• Growth potential

• Desire/readiness for growth
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mechanism  for  screening  companies  for growth potential and  then enables  those  that are  ready, able and 

willing to achieve their vision.  

Business Incubator vs. Accelerator 

Although the terms business incubator and business accelerator are frequently used interchangeably, there is 

a marked difference  in  scope and how  they evolved.   The business  incubator  concept began  in  the 1980’s 

based on the  idea that a start‐up or emerging business may have a higher success rate  if provided access to 

low  cost  space  (with  other  emerging  businesses)  and  offered  basic  support  services.    The  concept  was 

embraced by some local governments, universities and certain nonprofit organizations. The businesses would 

work  though  the  first  stage  of  growth  by  seeking  grants  and  pursuing  whatever  angel  funding  may  be 

available.   The  companies would  “graduate”  from  the  incubator once  they  reached a  certain  size based on 

revenue or employment level.   One of the most valued aspects of the incubator approach was the co‐location 

with other small businesses that could network with and leverage each other.  

The business accelerator was a phenomenon borne out of the dot‐com era when angel and venture capitalists 

sought to acquire emerging companies with good ideas, infuse resources at an accelerated rate to rapidly build 

the  company  up,  and  then  sell  off  as  a much  higher  valued  asset.   What  came  out  of  this  effort was  the 

concept that many types of potentially successful businesses could expand more rapidly if given access to the 

right type of resources. 

The difference between the  incubator and the accelerator  is speed and  intensity.   The  incubator “nurtures” 

companies to grow at their own defined pace while the accelerator compresses the delivery of support into a 

limited/defined time period.   Companies are typically selected by a review team to be part of an accelerator 

and then given the opportunity to be subjected to a high  level of rigor with access to resources that  include 

financial, mentorship, technical information, marketplace intelligence and whatever is needed to expeditiously 

move the company and its product forward. 

Economic Gardening (Business Acceleration for Second Stage Businesses) 

Another milestone  economic  development  effort  that  focuses  primarily  on  second  stage  businesses  (see 

definition below) is the concept of Economic Gardening.  Developed in the late 1980’s by Chris Gibbons in the 

City of Littleton, CO it is an approach to boost the growth of existing small companies within the community by 

providing the right environment and resources with an emphasis on three areas: 

1.  Provide critical  information needed by businesses to thrive (the basic know‐how on growth techniques, 

technical information on processes and techniques, and access to specific markets). 

2. Develop and cultivate the physical  infrastructure and environment that stimulates business growth that 

includes a culture  that embraces growth and change; access  to affordable space, business services and 

financial resources; the availability of qualified/ talented employees; and a quality of life that attracts and 

retains people to a location. 

3.  Facilitate connections between businesses and the contacts/organizations that can help take them to the 

next  level,  such  as business  associations, universities, networking opportunities,  service providers  and 

more. 

The Economic Gardening approach operates at a more macro level within a community, assuring that the right 

environment and resources exist to stimulate existing small business growth rather than constantly relying on 

the attraction of outside businesses  to expand a  local economy.   A natural outcome of building  this  type of 

environment may  eventually  be  the  attraction  of  other  businesses  to  the  community  as  certain  segments 

reach a critical mass. 
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 In developing an  ideal situation for the Milford area and ultimately the State of Delaware, elements of each 

approach can potentially be  incorporated  into a hybrid model.   The end result needs to be a shift  in overall 

culture in Delaware to one of entrepreneurship and small business development, as well as providing access to 

the resources required to support growth in an accelerated time frame. 

Second Stage Businesses 

Second  stage businesses are  typically defined as emerging businesses with 10‐100 employees and  revenues 

from $1 to $50 million.  Companies at this point are getting too big to be operated by a single hands‐on leader 

but are too small to support a significant professional management staff.   Companies can easily get stuck at 

this point due to the tyranny of available time and resources as well as the limited capabilities and vision of the 

founding  leaders of the company.       The company  is moving  into a stage that may be foreign and out of the 

comfort zone of the founding leaders. 

It should be noted that there  is a marked difference between a small business and a second stage company.  

Many small businesses are content  to be and stay  small, while a second stage company has  the desire and 

potential to keep growing and just needs the support and resources to get there. 

Second stage businesses have information needs that can be basic and operational in nature, such as access to 

financing, tips on cash flow management, enhancing the customer base, reaching new markets, etc.   Second 

stage firms need to address another set of challenges related to growth that include leadership development 

and management teams, strategic planning, market strategies,   and responses to positioning within evolving 

industries.   In essence, the second stage companies need more than just tangible resources  in order to grow 

and be successful. 
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Resources That Support 
Economic Growth

Level 1 ‐ Primary Industries 
and Organizations   

Level 2 ‐ Business Support 
Services

Level 3 ‐ Consumer‐Related 
Businesses

Structure of a Local Economy 

In order to fully understand the value and impact of a small business, it is important to define the structure of 

a  local economy.   The chart below defines a  local economy beginning with a “core” of  local  resources  that 

support economic growth.   They  include  the  labor  force and  its diversity of  skills along with education and 

training resources; availability of real estate options such as buildings and developed sites; access to utilities 

that are at a capacity and cost that meet company needs; air, highway and rail transportation; availability of 

incentives and financial resources; current industry presence; and other resources that meet company needs. 

 FIGURE 2: COMPOSITION OF A TYPICAL LOCAL ECONOMY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Resources that support economic growth include: 

• Sites and buildings with utility access 
• Labor with specific skills and strong work ethic 
• Transportation (interstate, air and rail) 
• Education and training 
• Financial resources and incentives 
• Other (as required by specific industry) 

Level 1 Industries/Organizations are those that 
infuse money into the local economy from outside 
sources and are of primary interest to economic 
developers.  They include the following: 

• Agriculture 
•  Manufacturing 

•  Colleges/Universities 
•  National Financial Services Firms 

•  Business Services (with outside clients) 
•  Regional Healthcare Operations 
•  Regional Retail Operations 
•  Regional Distribution Operations 
•  Tourism‐Related Businesses 

• State/Federal Government 

Level 2 Business Support Services provide support 
services and materials to the Level 1 employers 
and will exist as long as the Level 1 employers 
remain in the area. Examples of Level 2 businesses 
include: 
• Commercial  banking and insurance 
• Consulting services to local businesses 
• Commercial construction 
• Education/training services for employees 
• Copy/print/mail services 
• IT/computer services 
• Lab/technical services for local businesses 
• Parts fabrication for local manufacturing 

Level 3 Consumer‐Related Businesses provide 
goods and services to local residents that include: 

• Retail stores 
• Personal services 
• Home construction and real estate services 

• Education services 
• Entertainment/cultural/recreational venues 

• Financial services (retail banking and insurance) 
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Business and Product Life Cycles 

As noted  in the chart below, each product and the company  it represents goes through distinct  life cycles as 

the product  is conceptualized, commercialized, expanded and  then matures.   At each stage  in  the  life cycle 

there is a need for specific resources that will differ by type of product (which can be a tangible product or a 

service).    It  is  important  for  communities  and  other  resource  providers  to  be  aware  and  understand  the 

evolving needs of companies. 

 FIGURE 3: COMPANY/PRODUCT LIFE CYCLE: KEY TO UNDERSTANDING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES 

 

Life Stage R&D Stage Stage I Stage II Stages III & IV

Issues and 
Challenges

•Access to grants
and seed capital.

•Research partners 
and  talent.

•Cutting edge ideas 
and technology.

•Refine concepts 
into marketable 
products.

• Secure patents and 
licensing.

•Gain government 
approvals.

•Build initial market 
awareness and 
demand.

•Keeppace with market expansion.

•Reach new markets.

• Leverage technology  to enhance 
production productivity and 
product capability to sustain 
competitiveness.

• Small private companies are 
frequently acquired by  larger 
companies seeking to expand 
capability or market reach.

•Build strong brand  image, 
customer loyalty, hard to 
duplicate distribution channels 
and long‐term supply/sales 
contracts as competitive hedge.

•Competition resulting in 
price erosion.

•Market saturation and size 
reduction.

•Consolidations and 
privatization.

•Maximize productivity.

•Technology erosion, need to 
develop next generation 

product.

•Maximize productivity. 

Capital Needs Grants/seed capital, 
angel capital

Venture capital Investment capital to fuel 
expansions

Working capital 

Labor/Talent 

Needs

R&D talent High level multi‐task 

talent

Quality and quantity of labor 

available in strategic locations with 
market access

Labor cost is critical issue

Real Estate
Needs

Lab, office and pilot 
space within R&D 
environment

Low cost lab, office 
and production  space

Keep pace with business growth 
and need for strategic market 
access/presence

Consolidate and liquidate 
assets to reduce overhead 
costs

Leadership 

Style

Creative, innovative, 
perseverant

Multi‐skilled and 
multi‐tasked

Ability to build a span of control
and disperse responsibilities

Multi‐skilled, do more with 
less

Very dynamic process that causes companies to have evolving resource/leadership needs. 

O
ut

pu
t

Time

R&D Stage 
Product/Process 
Development

Stage I
Commercialization
and Initial Growth 

Stage II
Growth Through Internal 
Expansion & Acquisition

Stages III & IV
Maturing /Declining Market 
Requires Repositioning
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Inspired With 
an Idea . . . 

Refinement
of Concept

Product  and
Process 

Development

Business
Start‐Up

Business
Acceleration

Culture stimulates and 
supports innovation 
and entrepreneurship. 

Access to product and process 
development resources at the
private industry and university 
levels. 

Develop feasibility analysis along with a business 
plan.  Provide access to the following resources:

• Financial (loans/grants/investments).

• Real estate (facilities) and utilities.

• Labor  that is trainable, adaptive to change, 
can communicate, work in teams and alone, 
and quick  to learn technical skills.

• Cost competitive business environment.

• Access to process knowledge and markets.

End result is expanded community wealth, more jobs and a more sustainable economic future.

 SECTION 3  RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ESTABLISHING A BUSINESS ACCELERATOR 

MS&B benchmarked a variety of business incubator and accelerator 

programs  throughout  North  America  (see  Appendix  A‐1)  and 

identified  key  elements  that  could  be  applied  toward  expanding 

Delaware’s small businesses. The ultimate success of an accelerator 

is not the mechanics of a program but rather a culture and attitude 

that  embraces  new  ideas with  an  optimism  and  enthusiasm  con‐

tributed  by  each  stakeholder  in  the  economy  –  government, 

educators,  investors,  support  services,  industry  associations  and 

others. 

The Entrepreneurship Process 

In order for an “idea” to become a “business” there is a process within an environment that is supported by a 

culture that enables the  individual to succeed.   Communities that embrace this approach will thrive because 

the majority of  jobs and wealth created  in  the economy  is derived  from small businesses  that expand.   The 

biggest challenge that small/emerging businesses face  is being able to gain access to the available resources 

that exist while  fighting  the daily  “tyranny of  time”  in operating a  small business. The business accelerator 

approach seeks to bring all the needed resources together through one web portal location to make access to 

resources easy and processes straightforward.  

 FIGURE 4: THE PROCESS OF CONVERTING AN IDEA INTO A VIABLE BUSINESS 

 

“A business accelerator is more 
than an organization, a web site, 
or a facility; it is an environment 
that converges together all the 
elements that facilitate business 
growth.” 
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Framework for a Small Business Accelerator 

A framework for a business accelerator is noted in Figure 5 and described in detail below.   

 FIGURE 5: FRAMEWORK FOR A SMALL BUSINESS ACCELERATOR 

Preparation 

Access to
Resources

Internet 
Access 
Portal

Team Review

Build Awareness
of Accelerator

Access to “Guide”

Success Factors for a Business 
Accelerator:

• A local organization is avail‐
able, willing and capable of 
sustaining the Accelerator.

• Local entrepreneurial culture.

• Support of corporate and 
business services sponsors.

• Individuals willing to serve on 
business review committees.

• Assembly of needed 
resources.

• Responsive local and state 
governments.

 

Initial/Ongoing Awareness of Business Accelerator  

An  initial awareness of program and existence of the web access portal  includes ongoing promotion though 

trade  associations  as well  as  an  educational  campaign orchestrated  through media  releases  and  articles  in 

local  newspapers,  business  publications  and  e‐media.    Ongoing  communication  is  accomplished  through 

broadcast e‐mails (for those that sign‐up for the program), word‐of‐mouth, periodic media releases featuring 

success stories and invitations to special seminars and networking events.  

Web Access Portal: “It’s All in One Place” Theme 

The web site serves as a centralized information resource that includes:  

• Strategy: Access one’s personalized road map to plan growth strategy for 

new product and/or market penetration. 

• Convenience: Seminar registration and networking opportunities.  

• Toolkit: Business feasibility and plan preparation along with available classes 
and seminars on the subject. 

• Connect: Access to technical and business resources (see listing in Access to 
Resources section below) 

• Locate: Local/state government agency resources and contacts with core competency to identified small 

business area(s) of need.  

• Interface: “Social media” intelligence for local businesses to leverage each other’s knowledge and seek 

ways to work together (supply chain economy) on shared issues. 

Business
Accelerator
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Access to “Guide” 

The “guide” is a knowledgeable point of contact, equipped to answer resource and business growth questions 

(or direct the caller to the right source) as well as to provide the first line of triage in evaluating business needs 

and direct to the web portal to map a personalized plan for moving forward. 

Preparation 

The preparation  step  focuses on developing a  feasibility analysis and  then preparing a business plan  that  is 

used  to  secure  a  loan  or  other  sources  of  funding.    It may  also  include  the  detailed  planning  required  to 

develop  a  new  product  or  process  (marketplace  intelligence).    Small  businesses  can  access  the  infor‐

mation/technical resources available through the web portal assist in this activity. 

Team Review 

A review team comprised of business, industry and other technical resources are identified and come together 

periodically to review business plans and product/process strategies and provide seasoned advice on how to 

move forward successfully.  From the technical perspective, this will require drawing on resources from within 

and without  the State  in order  to secure  the  right  level of advice and support.   The Accelerator would also 

embrace elements of the DEDO/Kauffman FASTRAC “certified business” program to define the requirements 

of being properly prepared  in order  to access  funding and  loans  that are  recognized by banks,  the SBA and 

venture capitalists in the region. 

Access to Resources 

The portal will direct the user to different and unique resources that are available as a general information 
source or as a follow‐up to the preparation and/or review process steps noted above.  Specific items that 
would be of interest to a start‐up or emerging business include the following: 

• List of available buildings/sites (inventory by size, location, zoning, cost and condition) 

• Access to financial resources (details on latest state and federal initiatives, how to get grants, angel/venture 
capital and loans) 

• Tips on successful grant writing, investor backing and loan approvals 

• Specialized training (for employees and company leadership) 

• Technical information (process technology, IT support, other topics) 

• Technical/business mentors/experts (specific contacts on selected topics) 

• “How to” access to markets (marketplace intelligence, including government, agriculture, industry, 
consumer, etc.) 

• Organizations and services available by industry 

• Incentives available (local, state and federal) 

• Pinpointed no‐cost and low‐cost local, state and federal resources  

• Networking and blogging within industries and by topics of interest 

• Education and preparation of permitting processes and regulatory requirements, including support 
resources  
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Key Steps in Developing a Business Accelerator: The First Year Plan 

An outline for developing the Business Accelerator is provided below and will require a grant as well as an 
organizational champion and significant volunteer support. 

  Months 

Task  Description  1 2 3 4 5 6  7  8  9  10 11 12

1  Select organization to oversee business accelerator      

2  Establish a Resource Content Team                         

3  Establish a Board of Directors                          

4  Develop web access portal/support information            

5  Identify individuals to act as business “guides”           

6  Identify courses, seminars and mentors (on‐going)           

7  Establish financial/technical‐based review teams            

8  On‐going promotion of business accelerator offerings           

Notes for Each Task:    

• Task 1: Identify an organization that will oversee construction and support of the web access portal, seek 

complementary resources and content for the portal and continually expand the Business Accelerator.   

Recommendation: Delaware State University 

• Task 2: Establish a Resource Content Team to map out and continually update processes, develop/maintain lists 

of available real estate, define options for financial support, prepare “how‐to” papers on different subjects, etc. 

Recommendation: Seek out interested and able individuals with specific content knowledge as well as the proven 

track record in small business development. 

• Task 3: Establish a Board of Directors to oversee the development and sustained growth of the Business 

Accelerator over the next three years.   

Recommendation: Seek out interested individuals who have direct/related experience and a proven track record 

in supporting small business growth.    

• Task 4: Seek funding (from state and federal sources) and develop web access portal for Business Accelerator.   

Recommendation: Submit grant application to EDA.  Preparation of web portal should be ~6 months. 

• Task 5: Identify individuals/organizations that can serve as business “guides.” 

Recommendation: Staff members of the Delaware Small Business and Technology Center working closely with 

the Board of Directors. 

• Task 6: Identify available courses/ seminars and mentoring resources for developing a business or product 

feasibility, defining a business strategy and preparing a formal business plan. 

Recommendation: Combine available sources such as SCORE, Delaware Small Business and Technology Center, 

etc. and for business plan preparation such as classes at area colleges, seminars from the Kauffman Fastrac 

Program and other sources. 

Task 7: Develop financial and technical‐based review teams for peer review of business plans and new process 

development strategies. 

Recommendation: Seek out members from the financial, business and academic communities (as well as experts 

that are now retired) that have the knowledge and passion to support small business growth. 

• Task 8: Once the web portal is up and running, promote through a variety of channels. 

Recommendation: Utilize contacts through existing organizations, e‐media, TV news, word of mouth and other 

promotions. 
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 SECTION 4  BENCHMARK SMALL BUSINESS ACCELERATOR PROGRAMS 

Over  twenty  years  ago,  Eli  and  Sher Valenzuela  relocated  from  Texas  to  the 

Milford, Delaware area to be near family and to ultimately realize a dream of 

starting a business.  While in the Air Force, Eli had taken a mail order course in 

upholstery to learn a trade that he could use when he returned to civilian life. 

That skill would eventually be the basis that would establish the very successful 

manufacturing business in the City of Milford that currently employs over 50 local residents and is housed in a 

70,000 square feet facility; a portion of which was renovated with 

support  from  the  City  of  Milford.    The  growth  of  First  State 

Manufacturing  is a classic case of a small business  that  leveraged 

the “low‐cost/no‐cost”  resources available  for small businesses  in 

Delaware and propelled them into success.  

In  1997,  Eli  had  a  civilian  job working  in  the  upholstery  shop  at 

Dover  Air  Force  Base.  Sher was working  for  the  Delaware  State 

News  as  an  editor  and  juggling  family  responsibilities.    Eli would 

finish  his  “official work”  during  the  day  then work  late  into  the 

night  in  his  garage  to  fill  local  commercial  orders  for  small 

upholstery projects.  At this point, Eli and Sher decided to take the 

leap  of  faith  required  to  transition  into  their  own  business  and 

secured a lease on 2,000 square feet of space in a local warehouse. 

 Over the past twenty years the business has evolved to serve both 

government  and non‐government product  areas  that  range  from 

refitting  seats  and  interiors  in  Air  Force  cargo  aircraft;  providing  seats  cushions,  covers  and  flooring  for 

A core product for the business is the replacement of 
seating for restaurants and other establishments.

Processes such as cutting are automated  and complemented by a team of associates skilled in industrial sewing 
and upholstery.   There is a substantial  amount of planning and coordination required to engage  in major on‐site 
projects.

Government‐related business includes interior 
refurbishment of aircraft (such as the C5A Galaxy 
above) as well as seating on passenger rail cars 
and in other public facilities.

Eli Valenzuela stands
next to the garage 
where he started the 
business with a layout
table and a well‐worn
industrial sewing machine he nicknamed 
“Old Betsy.”
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passenger rail cars, to replacing or upgrading restaurant seating.  

 Over  the  years,  the business has  invested  substantially  in  technology  to  increase productivity  and quality.  

They have also acquired a very good reputation of meeting government contact obligations that resulting  in 

numerous awards and citations. Details on company growth in revenue, number of employees and production 

space is summarized below. 

 FIGURE 6: FIRST STATE MANUFACTURING REVENUE: 1998 TO 2010 

Employees 4 6 10 12 17 23 25 22 27 30 34 44 44

Space (SF) 2,000 2,000 4,000 4,750 5,750 13,000 13,000 13,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

$0 

$500,000 

$1,000,000 

$1,500,000 

$2,000,000 

$2,500,000 

$3,000,000 

$3,500,000 

$4,000,000 

$4,500,000 

$5,000,000 

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Non‐Government

Government

 

A Partial List of Resources That Contributed to the Company’s Success 

Although First State Manufacturing certainly applied many long and hard hours to their business, Eli and Sher 

Valenzuela and their partner, Ashley Wolfe will readily admit that a key contributor to their success was the 

available resources that they fortunately encountered and intentionally captured along the way.  These 

included but limited to the following: 

• Business Strategy and Preparation of a Business Plan:  The very first resource encounter was a meeting with 

a  Service  Core  of  Retired  Executives  (SCORE)  business  counselor.   He  leveraged  his  long  experience  and 

helped them frame‐up the business concept and set a course of action.  They also met with a representative 

of  the Small Business Development Center  (SBDC)  that established  the need  to prepare a comprehensive 

business plan as a tool for gaining access to different types of financing. 

• Financial Resources:  The first $5,000 “seed capital” came from Sher’s mother.  Later, they secured an initial 

$25,000 SBA loan and other loans later in the process.  Their SBDC representative accompanied them to the 

bank. 

• Technical and Market Access Support: The Manufacturing Extension Partnership was utilized for a variety 
of  challenges  ranging  from  the  loan  of  DEMEP’s  trade  show  booth  to  process  optimization  through 
technology. 

• Procurement Technical Assistance Program:  Was utilized to help guide the company in contracting with the 
federal government.  
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Running a “solutions‐based” business requires a persistent 
focus on R&D.   The company has set aside a 500 square 
foot room for product development along with a loft (see 
above) as a place to “think up new ideas”.

First State Manufacturing recently acquired and partially renovated 70,000 
square feet of former warehouse space in Milford, DE.   The City of Milford 
issued permits, provided some of the utilities and made  infrastructure 
improvements that met a tight  schedule. 

Left to right:
Ashley Wolfe, Executive Director
Sher Valenzuela, Vice President
Eli Valenzuela,  President

• Lockheed Martin  (primary government contractor): Helped  the  company  to obtain  ISO compliance  status 
through its small business vendor program. 

• Gaining Access to Qualified Labor to Support Business Expansions: The Delaware Economic Development 
Office  (DEDO)  funded  a workforce  training  program  to  prepare  new  production  employees  in  a  time  of 
business expansion. 

• Access  to  Facilities That Met Their  Expansion Needs:    Each  time  the  company expanded,  it was  able  to 

locate adequate space within the Milford area.   As a manufacturing and distribution center over the years, 

the City of Milford had former industrial space available for small businesses.  Some of the space, including 

their most recent acquisition of a 70,000 sq. ft. former warehouse constructed in 1950, required significant 

utility upgrade as well as renovation of the overall facility. 

The  company  owners  (noted  below)  had  been  very  active  in  economic  and  workforce  development  and 
pursued a partnership with the City of Milford to develop the business accelerator initiative.  It is their hope to 
leverage  their  knowledge  of  business  development,  production  techniques  and  successful  government 
contracting to enable and equip other small businesses  in the area.   They have also set aside 30,000 square 
feet of space, 13,000 of which will be donated for the development of a downstate Junior Achievement Center 
for the region, as well as accelerator space for local start‐up and emerging businesses. 

Lessons Learned 

First  State Manufacturing  is well  versed  and  remains 

an  advocate  for  the wide  variety  resources  that  are 

available to small/emerging businesses, because many 

companies  remain  unaware  of  them.    This  is  what 

compelled Sher Valenzuela to author the “how‐to” on 

gaining  access  to  low‐cost/no‐cost  resource  and  on 

doing  business  with  state  and  federal  governments.  

She  notes  that  there  needs  to  be  an  information 

portal  that  businesses  can  access  that  has  all  the 

information  they  need  to  expand  their  operations.  

This was one of the drivers for developing a feasibility 

study for a business accelerator in Delaware. 
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 SECTION 5  INCORPORATING ENTREPRENEURISM INTO LOCAL SCHOOL SYSTEM EDUCATION

Defining Entrepreneurism and Its Use in Local Education 

Entrepreneurism  is  the  process  of  transforming  an  idea  (innovation)  onto  economic  value  that  involves  a 

product and/or a  service.   Success hinges on a unique blend of  creativity,  reasonable  risk‐taking and  some 

good business  sense.   Helping  students  to become proficient  in entrepreneurism  is not only a key  factor  in 

keeping the U.S. competitive,  it can also provide practical  life skills to the student  in areas such as managing 

personal  finances,  problem‐solving  and  critical  thinking,  effective  team  dynamics,  written/verbal 

communications, work  planning  and  goal  setting  as well  as  career  selection.    It  can  also  bring  a  real‐life 

dimension to school subjects that can build student interest and has the potential of addressing issues related 

to at‐risk/disruptive students.  The value of entrepreneurship’s role in education has captured the attention of 

educators throughout the world and has driven the desire to  improve  individual programs.   Key elements of 

this approach to education often cited include: 

• Lectures on basic concepts reinforced by practical projects and activities. 

• Use of computer simulations, business games, student companies as well as project work for individuals 

and teams. 

• Engagement in company tours, internships (paid and unpaid) and job shadowing for defined periods. 

• The identification of a new product or innovation that is incorporated into a business plan along with a 
competition that offers some level of reward (seed money) is often the capstone to the program. 

Case Studies and Other Resource Information 

Within Appendix 5, there are a number of case studies and examples of resources that are readily available to 

school  districts,  including  including  programs  from  the  University  of  Delaware  and  the  Delaware  Junior 

Achievement. 

Application of Entrepreneurship to the Milford Area 

The Milford area, as well as other  locations within Delaware, can greatly enhance their education curriculum 

through the use of entrepreneurship concepts and programs that  include partnerships with  local companies 

for  internships  and  short‐term  esperiences,  use  of  Juniour  Achievement  Programs,  use  of  University  of 

Delaware Programs, and other initiatives. 
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APPENDIX

1. BENCHMARKING SMALL BUSINESS ACCELERATOR 
PROGRAMS 

2. EXISTING SMALL BUSINESS IN DELAWARE 

3. SURVEY OF EXISTING MANUFACTURING 

BUSINESSES IN KENT AND SUSSEX COUNTIES 

4. EXISTING RESOURCES THAT SUPPORT SMALL 

BUSINESSES GROWTH IN DELAWARE 

5. INCORPORATING ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN LOCAL 
SCHOOL SYSTEM CURRICULUM 
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 APPENDIX A‐1  BENCHMARKING SMALL BUSINESS ACCELERATOR PROGRAMS 
Business  accelerators  throughout North  America were  evaluated  to  determine what  types  of  support  and 

resources are being offered to stimulate the growth of small business.   A number of common elements that 

are utilized are described below.  The contemporary “business accelerator” is becoming an integration of the 

traditional “business incubator” that provides low cost space and support services for a finite period of time, 

along with the more intensive and rigorous “business accelerator” that offers financial and mentoring services 

to identify and select high potential emerging and start‐up businesses. 

Common Elements in Business Accelerators 

• An accelerator typically includes an oversight organization with a dedicated staff (varying from a few to 10+ 

staff members) that supports ongoing communications (web site, e‐mails and various seminars), responds to 

inquiries, and administers the overall program. 

• Local sponsors provide financial support of networking events, seminars and certain program offerings as 

well as cost‐effective services to emerging companies. 

• A web portal is the primary communications tool that provides access to various resources and contacts as 

well as sources for certain types of technology, business processes, securing permits, the availability of 

incentives and other grants, and other information.  It may also include a schedule of upcoming events, 

roadmaps for starting or growing a business or initiating a new product, and details on preparing a business 

plan, etc. 

• The tool of choice for defining, planning and communicating an opportunity is the development of a 
business plan with defined sections, such as: 

 Executive Summary 
 Company Overview 
 Industry Analysis 
 Market/Customer Analysis 
 Marketing Plan and Competitive Analysis 
 Operations Plan 
 Management/Organization Plan 
 Financial Plan 
 Appendix  

Classes or seminars are available by the organization or local colleges for preparing a business plan. 

• An important activity for emerging businesses and new product develop is coaching and mentoring. 

• A critical program component is access to financial resources in the form of support for effective grant 

writing, securing angel or venture capital, or applying for an SBA loan. 

• Businesses are screened by a review committee in order to gain access to incubators or other low‐cost 

space, secure a loan from investors, or gain feedback on their overall business plan. 

• Many programs offer low cost space and access to business support services (the traditional “incubator”). 

• If the program is focused on “business acceleration”, a specific process to gain access to the program along 

with a team available to screen, mentor and fund the business for a particular period of time. 

Unique Areas of Focus 

• Focus on a particular technology or industry (green technology, materials related, food processing, etc.) 

• Provide access to international trade (partnership with Mexican, Canadian, EU, Asian, etc. locations) 

• Leverage specific technology centers (a local university, federal lab/research center, etc.) 
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Cases Studies on Selected Community Business Accelerator Programs 

 Case 1 – Comprehensive Approach for New and Emerging Businesses 

Location  Asheville, NC 

Organization  AdvantageWest regional economic development organization established the Blue 
Ridge Entrepreneurial Council (BREC) in 2002 to serve emerging businesses in a 23 
county area in western North Carolina. 

Staff  Matt Raker (VP of Entrepreneurship and AdvantageGreen)
Office: 828.687.7234 
Cell: 828.808.2873 

Businesses Served  Beginning entrepreneurs and small emerging companies throughout the region.

Scope    Education, networking, communications, capital formation through the Blue Ridge 
Angel Investors Network (BRAIN), and technology commercialization. 

• Communications: ongoing information is sent via e‐mail, posted on the web site 
and announced in the media. 

• Education: boot camps on business start‐up for new entrepreneurs, seminars on 
sales growth and marketing techniques, securing grants (Small Business Innovation 
Grants), and identifying opportunities with nearby Oak Ridge National Laboratory. 

• Networking: monthly networking events that also have speakers from prominent 
businesses that present information on business growth. 

• Capital Formation: the organization holds an annual investors conference that 
attracts ~250 participants that represent ~$1 billion in investment capital.  Each 
quarter the BRAIN organization meets with 12‐15 emerging companies and selects 
4‐5 companies for investments.  The organization is currently raising $5 million for 
the BRAIN Fund I as a resource for investing in local companies.  They also help 
companies get introductions to investors that are outside the area. 

• Technology Commercialization: the WNC Center for Technology Commercial‐
ization seeks to support business growth by connecting intellectual property and 
ideas from individuals, institutions and companies to those that can help get them 
commercialized. 

Partners/Sponsors  Include financial services (RBC Centura), accounting (Grant Thorton), software/IT (Red 
Hat) and legal (Womble Carlyle) as well as other firms. 

Web Sites  www.brecnc.com 

Other Support 
Services in Area 

• Asheville‐Buncombe Technical Community College: Small Business Center provides 
a variety of services/support for small businesses and new entrepreneurs that 
includes workshops, seminars, expos and camps.  Individuals can get input on 
preparing a business plan, access to information resources, free counseling, formal 
classes, business incubator program and other support.   
Web site: www.abtech.edu/sbc 

• Smokey Mountain Development Corporation: their Small Business and Industry 
Center (SBIC) operates a 17,000 SF incubator facility that rents space (from 600 to 
1,800 SF) at $3‐4/SF for start‐up businesses for up to two years.  They also have a 
revolving loan program initially funded by grants from North Carolina, Haywood 
County and the EDA.  Loans have defined terms and last up to three years. 
Web Site: www.smdcnc.org/smdc 

Successful 
Outcomes 

17.5% of the local economy’s employment is involved in entrepreneurial activities 
compared to a national average of 15.5%.  They are also raising $5 million in angel 
capital investment for the next general companies. 
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 Case 2 – Strong Focus on Technology Segments and Leveraging NASA Derivatives 

Location  Houston, TX 

Organization  Houston Technology Center (HTC)

Staff  10+ staff along with resident experts

Businesses Served  Technology companies (energy, IT, life sciences, nanotechnology and aerospace)

Scope    50,000 SF space, Emerging Tech Fund, educational seminars, conferences of key topics, 
networking, service provider network, Goradia Innovation Prize ($5,000 to $50,000), 
coaching/mentoring, space‐related technology transfer program. 

Partners/Sponsors  100+ sponsors paying $10,000 to $100,000 in cash and in‐kind services  

The following are partners with the HTC: 

• BioHouston (integrating area resources to promote life science and biotechnology) 

• University of Houston, Center for Entrepreneurship and Innovation at the Bauer 
College of Business 

• Consumer Energy Alliance (use and security of energy and price stability) 

• Gulf Coast Medical Device Manufacturers 

• Houston Angel Network (early stage investor network) 

• Houston Hispanic Chamber of Commerce 

• Houston Technology Executive Council 

• MIT Enterprise Forum of Texas 

• Rice Alliance for Technology and Entrepreneurship 

• Space Alliance Technology Outreach Program 

TiE‐Houston (not‐for‐profit focused on fostering entrepreneurship through 
networking, mentoring and participation) 

Web Site  www.houstontech.org

Other Support 
Services in Area 

Houston Community College / Center for Entrepreneurship (training and building of 
relationships) 

Successful 
Outcomes 

Since 1999, HTC has provided feedback to well over 1,000 companies and coached 
more than 240 companies, helping them raise $750 million in capital and creating 
thousands of jobs. 
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 Case 3 – Focus on One Aspect of Materials (Composites) 

Location  Dayton, OH 

Organization  National Composite Center

Staff  ~6 staff members including several technical specialists

Businesses Served  Companies that utilize composite materials, both in the greater Dayton area and in 
other locations. 

Scope    Support the development of innovative composite materials and their related 
manufacturing processes.  Specific services include engineering, product development 
and testing.  They also host classes, symposia, meetings, and conferences related to 
composite applications and technology.  There is a pilot plant facility available to 
support companies in production scale‐ups and process optimization. 

Partners/Sponsors  The organization is supported through memberships by 40+ companies including 
major firms such as GE, Boeing, Honeywell, multiple universities, and industry 
associations. 

Web Site  www.compositecenter.org

Successful 
Outcomes 

The organization works with over 50 member companies to develop new products and 
process improvements related to composite technology 

 
 Case 4 – Focus on Trade Relations With Mexico 

Location  Santa Teresa, NM 

Organization  International Business Accelerator

Staff  ~4 staff members 

Businesses Served  Any company in New Mexico seeking to engage in international business. 

Scope    Services are free of charge through the NMSBDC's International Business Accelerator 
(IBA), located in Santa Teresa, and the 20 Small Business Development Centers located 
throughout the state. The international trade experts participating in the program will 
assist companies in:  

• Becoming export ready 

• Accessing international trade resources 

• Promoting their products to selected target markets 

• Identifying buyers for their product/service 

• Facilitating meetings with potential buyers 

• Conducting follow‐up with prospects 

Seminars and webinar training in the areas of international business planning, finance, 
logistics, marketing identification, and secure commerce will also be offered to 
participating companies. An electronic product and service bulletin board will be 
available for small businesses who sign up for the services. 

Partners/Sponsors  • New Mexico Small Business Development Centers
• Western New Mexico University 
• Multiple destinations within Mexico 

Web Site  www.nmiba.com 

Successful 
Outcomes 

The effort is in its infancy but has attracted several businesses and the Union Pacific 
Railroad has invested $400 million in a terminal for the area. 
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 Case 5 – Large Facility (200,000 SF) With Comprehensive Support  

Location  Akron, OH 

Organization  Akron Global Business Accelerator (started in 1983)

Staff  5 (CEO, director of operations, technical directors, facilities manager) 

Businesses Served  Technology‐driven companies

Scope    Services offered (besides residence within their 200,000 SF facility): 
• Business development assistance 
• Consultation on business operations 
• Marketing & sales assistance 
• Access to government grants & loans 
• Help procuring investment capital 
• Networking activities 

Potential tenants must complete application and prepare a comprehensive business 
plan that is approved by the tenant committee.  The plan must address: company 
organization, use of technology, description of products and services, marketing and 
sales strategy, manufacturing methods, management capability, sources of capital  
and financial plan with three year forecast  

Partners/Sponsors  Primarily the City of Akron and grants from the State of Ohio

Web Site  www.akronaccelerator.com

Successful 
Outcomes 

The accelerator currently houses 48 emerging companies and has a long history of 
small business start‐up and acceleration since its inception in 1983.  The facility has 
also been expanded several times over its life time.  

 

 Case 6 – Business Accelerator Without Facilities   

Location  Roswell (Atlanta), GA 

Organization  Stage2 Accelerator which is a 501(c)6 corporation

Staff  2 professionals 

Businesses Served  Emerging high growth Georgia companies

Scope    Backed by a public/private partnership, they provide the following services in three 
steps: 

1. Practical and methodical education to help entrepreneurs learn the skills 
necessary to succeed. 

2. An upfront agreed upon "Business Roadmap" of tasks to be learned and 
completed. 

3. An outside (customized) Advisory Board in appropriate functional areas to 
support the organization.  The Board may focus on any and all of the following: 

• Business development (sales/marketing)  
• Compensation  
• Finances and funding  
• Governance  
• HR 
• Legal  
• Operations 
• Product/service development 

Partners/Sponsors  Advisory Board members are at the senior level of existing companies. 

Web Site  www.stage2ba.com 



Feasibility Study for Small Business Accelerator    23 

 

 Case 7 – University/Community Partnerships for Accelerator   

Location  Central Florida (9 locations)

Organization  University of Central Florida and local community partners

Staff  Incubator facilities of various sizes with a small staff in each

Businesses Served  Any small emerging business that passes the screen (see below)

Scope    The accelerator program has a structured process as outlined below: 

Evaluation 
 Submit Application 
 Complete Excellence in Entrepreneurship 
 Present to Selection Committee 
 Admission 

Orientation (Month 1‐2) 
 Incubator Orientation 
 Business Development Orientation 

Growth (Month 2‐12) 
 Strategy Series Work Sessions  

1. Company Growth Strategy  
 Elevator Speech 
 Value Proposition 
 Define Problem Being Solved 
 Build Revenue Projections 

2. Market Growth Strategy  
 Target Customer 
 Market Segmentation 
 Sustainable Competitive Advantage 

3. Investment/Funding Strategy  
 Government Funding 
 Elevator Speech 
 Term Sheet 
 PowerPoint Presentation for Investors 

 Participate in Day‐to‐Day Tactical Meetings  

Maturation (Month 13‐18 )  
 Present Initial Business Plan  
 Present Final Business Plan  
 Revisit Strategic Plan  

Graduation (Month 18 ‐ 36) 

Partners/Sponsors  The program has a long list of business service companies that are initially screened 
and are willing to sponsor seminars and offer low‐cost up‐front services. 

Web Site  www.incubator.ucf.edu/Incubationprogram

Successful 
Outcomes 

Since its founding in Oct. 1999, the UCF Business Incubation Program (UCFBIP) has 
helped more than 200 emerging companies (including over 110 current clients) create 
over $500 million in annual revenue and more than 1600 new jobs with an average 
salary of $59,000. 
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 Case 8 – Large Scale Food‐Related Retail and Farmers’ Market 

Location  Columbus, OH 

Organization  North Market (Farmer’s Market + 35 Retailers)

Staff  Overall director and director of operations and marketing

Businesses Served  35 food‐related small retailers in a former farm implement manufacturing building 
plus 22 farmers in an outdoor covered market near the building.  The farmers hold the 
market Saturdays in the growing season and the North Market is open year round. 

Scope    Agriculture and food‐related businesses that are screened prior to participation.  Low 
cost rent is offered along with substantial marketing support and access to a 
demonstration kitchen utilized for cooking classes 

Partners/Sponsors  None identified 

Web Site  http://www.northmarket.com

Successful 
Outcomes 

The 35 small retailers are sustained in the North Market that has been in existence 
since the 1880’s although relocated several times over its history 

 
 Case 9 – Food Innovation Center That Serves a Region and a State  

Location  Bridgeton, NJ (Cumberland County in southern New Jersey)

Organization  Rutgers/NJ Food Innovation Center

Staff  Director with business and technical staff and admin support (16 people total) 

Businesses Served  Agricultural and food‐related businesses that include:
• Individual farmers and agricultural cooperatives seeking new businesses for 

value‐added agricultural products or new markets for existing commodities 

• Startup food processing companies facing the challenges of financing, technology, 
regulations, new market development and facility requirements 

• Existing small and mid‐size food companies seeking access to new technologies, 
upgrade quality capabilities, enter new markets, train their workforce, and 
expand/improve their operations 

• Retail and foodservice establishments seeking to improve operations or purchase 
locally‐grown agricultural products.  

Scope    • Incubator includes a 23,000 sq ft facility in 2008 that houses staff, office/lab space 
and training rooms.   

• Technical and Business Services 
 Business Mentoring Services: management plans and strategy 
 Manufacturing and Operations Support: hot, dry and cold processing as well a 
cold assembly labs and development support as well as information on 
production, sourcing raw materials, quality assurance, food safety, etc. 

 Product Development Services: new product development, process and 
packaging development, commercial samples for market research, label 
design, etc. 

• Food Entrepreneurs Network 
Partners/Sponsors  The Center has received substantial grants and support from federal and state sources 

as well as ongoing support from Rutgers University, USDA, and others. 

Web Site  www.foodinnovation.rutgers.edu/

Successful 
Outcomes 

The Center has helped over 1,200 companies and entrepreneurs since it opened in 
2000.  It is estimated that the Center has stimulated 1,000 net new jobs and over a 
total of $200 million in new revenue. 
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 APPENDIX 2  EXISTING SMALL BUSINESS IN DELAWARE

The charts below demonstrate the portion of the Delaware economy that is derived from small business (<100 

employees).  A substantial opportunity exists for enabling a selected portion of these firms to reach their full 

potential. 

 

 FIGURE A‐1: NUMBER OF BUSINESSES IN DELAWARE BY ECONOMIC SEGMENT AND LEVEL OF EMPLOYMENT 
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Source: County Business Patterns (2009) 

 TABLE A‐1: NUMBER OF COMPANIES BY ECONOMIC SEGMENT, COUNTY AND EMPLOYMENT LEVEL 

  Sussex County Kent County New Castle County

Description  0‐9  10‐99 100+ 0‐9 10‐99 100+ 0‐9  10‐99 100+

Construction  651  100  0 324 53 3 969  291 25

Manufacturing  70  60  11 47 25 14 211  143 31

Wholesale Trade  124  44  0 92 24 1 541  150 14

Retail Trade  811  292  12 382 178 18 1377  544 67

Transp. & Warehousing  173  34  1 95 24 8 230  95 11

Information  48  20  1 35 11 4 170  76 10

Financial Services  222  38  1 152 37 1 1400  220 67

Real Estate Related  253  25  2 114 8 2 637  76 1

Prof./Technical Services  322  45  0 204 40 2 1457  320 29

Mgmt. of Companies  15  9  0 17 5 1 1264  55 19

Admin. & Support Services  216  42  3 129 34 6 626  230 50

Educational Services  23  12  0 25 11 1 116  70 17

Health Care & Social Serv.  403  147  17 235 131 11 912  570 55

Arts/Entertain./Recreation  75  22  0 42 16 2 168  67 11

Hospitality  357  222  2 112 129 5 564  495 17

Source: County Business Patterns (2009)  
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Within manufacturing firms with employment of 10‐99, the strongest segments are food processing, printing, 
chemical‐related, plastic products, and fabricated metal products. 

 TABLE A‐2: MANUFACTURING COMPANIES BY INDUSTRY AND EMPLOYMENT IN DELAWARE   

Industry  County  <10 10‐99 100+

Food Processing  New Castle  11 7

Kent  5  2 3

Sussex  12 14 6

Beverage (wine*, 
soda, brewery, other) 

New Castle  1 

Kent  1*

Sussex  1  1

Textile Products  New Castle  11 1

Kent    1 1

Sussex  5  1

Printing  New Castle  39 13 1

Kent  4  1

Sussex  9  1

Chemicals, Pharma, 
Biomaterials, etc.  

New Castle  13 16 10

Kent  4  3

Sussex  1  6 2

Plastic & Rubber 
Products 

New Castle  7  15 6

Kent    1

Sussex  1  6 2

Non‐Metallic Products 
(clay, porcelain, glass, 
abrasives, etc.) 

New Castle  14 12

Kent  2  3

Sussex  6  7

Fabricated Metal 
Products 

New Castle  37 21 5

Kent  12 2 1

Sussex  10 9

Machinery  New Castle  11 6

Kent  1  2

Sussex  3 

Computers and 
Electronics 

New Castle  18 11 2

Kent  3 

Sussex    2

Electrical Equipment, 
Appliances and 
Components 

New Castle  2  7 2

Kent    1

Sussex  1  1

Transportation 
Equipment 

New Castle  3  3

Kent  1 

Sussex  3  2 1

Furniture and Related  New Castle  15 9 1

Kent  2  1

Sussex  6 

Medical Devices  New Castle  9  5

Kent  3  1

Sussex  1  2

Source: County Business Patterns (2009)  
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 TABLE A‐3: PROFESSIONAL/TECHNICAL SERVICES PRESENCE IN DELAWARE (COMPANIES BY EMPLOYMENT) 

Industry  County  <10  10‐99 100+

 Architectural and 
Engineering Services 

New Castle  155  50 3

Kent  31  6

Sussex  59  7

 Specialized Design 
(Interior, industrial, 
graphic, other) 

New Castle  51  4

Kent  4 

Sussex  13  1

Computer System 
Design 

New Castle  360  55 9

Kent  49  3

Sussex  40  1

Management 
Consulting Services 

New Castle  232  19 1

Kent  22  3

Sussex  53  4

Scientific/R&D Services  New Castle  30  19 5

Kent  4 

Sussex  3  1

Advertising/PR 
Services 

New Castle  61  12 1

Kent  9 

Sussex  15  2

Photography  New Castle  29  6

Kent  3  2 1

Sussex  8 

Veterinary Services  New Castle  8  24

Kent  4  8

Sussex  10  4
Source: County Business Patterns (2009)  
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 APPENDIX A‐3  SURVEY OF EXISTING MANUFACTURING BUSINESSES IN KENT AND SUSSEX COUNTIES 

A survey was distributed to about 125 manufacturing firms in Kent and Sussex County  

The key opportunities and issues that were derived from the survey responses included: 

Size of Businesses 

Range:  10 to 190 employees 

Types of Businesses Responding 

• Significant number of metal fabricators 

• Industrial textile‐related products 

• Non‐metallic products (multiple processes) 

 Current Markets Served 

• Industrial (energy, equipment OEM’s, aircraft/aerospace OEM’s, etc.) 

• Military and civilian government (federal, state and local) 

• Construction 

• Commercial/retail 

Interest in Potential Markets 

• Further penetration of existing markets. 

• Leverage core competencies into additional industrial (equipment) and military (aircraft) markets. 

• Have state/federal government communicate as to the types of products and services they purchase from 
vendors so local firms can bid on them. 

Issues That Need to Be Addressed in Order to Expand Business 

• Complexity of government regulations and the time/cost required for compliance. 
• Having access to qualified technical talent at the engineer, technician and laborer level. 
• Having access to available, low cost capital for expansion. 
• Local high cost of energy is an issue . . . makes some energy users less competitive. 
• Need support to reach specific markets and assistance in defining market opportunities. 

General Comments 

• There is a critical issue in the area related to access to qualified technical talent.  There needs to be an 
expansion in the supply or businesses cannot grow. 

• Government, from an economic development perspective is fine, but when it’s time to work with other 
agencies to seek approvals it is not productive or supportive.  The process needs to be streamlined. 

• Although the definition of “accelerator” was only briefly described in the survey, the majority of responders 
were interested in the concept.  Several of the larger/more established companies offered to support 
emerging businesses either through third‐party production services (metal fabrication), identification of 
purchased products or in reaching a specific market. 
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 APPENDIX 4  EXISTING RESOURCES THAT SUPPORT SMALL BUSINESSES GROWTH IN DELAWARE 

Listed below are organizations that contribute in some manner to supporting the development of new and 

small/emerging business in Delaware.  These organizations serve as a sampling for determining the current 

resources available as part of the business accelerator “network”. 

 TABLE A‐5: SUMMARY OF DELAWARE RESOURCES THAT SUPPORT SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

Organization  Description of Services Provided 

New/Small Business Development Organizations

DELAWARE SMALL BUSINESS AND 
TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT CENTER 
www.dsbtdc.org 

Operates in affiliation with the University of Delaware and Delaware State 
University and is funded in part by the U.S. Small Business Administration.  
The organization offers companies at all life stages access to experienced 
staff members as well as university faculty and students. 

SERVICE CORE OF RETIRED EXECUTIVES 
(SCORE) 
www.score.org 

Access to a variety of seasoned executive talent that is available both on‐line 
and one‐on‐one as requested.   SCORE matches talent within the 
organization with specific needs of the business. 

VISTAGE 
www.vistage.com 

A service focused on executives of different size organizations to provide 
coaching and mentoring, peer advisory groups, expert speaker workshops 
and internet‐based sessions, access to knowledge and other services.  The 
Vistage Small Business Coaching program is designed especially for small 
business leaders who are ready to take their businesses to the next level. 

DELAWARE MANUFACTURING 

EXTENSION PARTNERSHIP 
www.demep.org 

Affiliated with the Delaware State Chamber of Commerce and provides a 
variety of services to support the growth of manufacturing and other types 
of businesses through developing strategic business plans, locating vital 
resources, reducing lead time, applying lean and quality techniques, meeting 
environmental standards, achieving ISO certification, training and retaining 
employees, and increasing sales. 

DELAWARE EMERGING TECHNOLOGY 
CENTER 
www.delawareetc.org 

Virtual business incubator with an advisory board that assists emerging 
businesses. 

 

FIRST STATE INNOVATION 
www.firststateinnovation.org 

Launched in 2006, First State Innovation (FSI) helps technology‐based and 
early stage businesses find traditional seed capital, alternative funding, 
skilled human capital, commercialization assistance, intellectual capital, and 
other entrepreneurial resources 

U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
www.sba.gov 

Access to loans, loan guarantees, contracts, counseling sessions and other 
forms of assistance to small businesses.  

DEDO/KAUFFMAN FASTRAC PROGRAM 

FOR ENTREPRENEURS 
http://deetc.affiliate.fasttrac.org/ 

DEDO has partnered with the Kauffman Foundation to provide training for 
entrepreneurial businesses. 
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Education and Training Resources 

DELAWARE TECHNICAL AND 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
www.dtcc.edu/success/ 
 

The Entrepreneurship Program offers an associate degree or non‐degree 
certificate options.  The program includes course research, personal 
assessments, job shadowing or student run businesses.  Additionally, students 
have the opportunity to attend professional business conferences to expand 
their experiences. 

DELAWARE STATE UNIVERSITY 
www.desu.edu/dced 

The Center for Enterprise Development offers a number of programs to 
support small businesses that includes the Food Business Incubator Center, 
small business consulting, and applied business research.   

UNIVERSITY OF DELAWARE 
www.udel.edu/oeip 
 
 
 

Entrepreneurial Studies Program includes an undergraduate minor in E‐
Studies, host the Venture Development Center (meeting space and applied 
learning lab), Venture Funding Competitions (award funding to students based 
on business plan competition and E‐Internships. 
The Office of Economic Innovation and Partnerships, through its Technology 
Transfer Center and Small Business and Technology Development Center, will 
provide business development guidance to technology‐based businesses within 
and beyond the UD community, ranging from advice on patents to Small 
Business Innovation Research contracts, services and funding. 

JUNIOR ACHIEVEMENT 
www.jadelaware.org 
 

JA programs are delivered by corporate and community volunteers that 
provide relevant, hands‐on experiences that give K‐12 students knowledge and 
skills in financial literacy, work readiness and entrepreneurship. 

Industry/Trade Organizations 

DELAWARE STATE CHAMBER OF 

COMMERCE  
www.dscc.com 

Provides member services and advocacy for small business as well as 
networking opportunities for business‐to‐business services. 

DELAWARE MANUFACTURING 

ASSOCIATION 
www.dscc.com/chamber/Delaw
are_Manufacturing_Association
.aspx 
 

Affiliated with the Delaware Chamber of Commerce, this organization’s mission 
is to enhance the competitiveness of Delaware manufacturers; serve as 
manufacturing’s advocate at the state and local government level; advise the 
State Chamber on topics that specifically impact manufacturers such as 
government regulation, trade and tax policy; and sponsor networking events 
focused on the needs of manufacturers. 

   

Other Government Agencies That Support Small/Emerging Businesses 

PROCUREMENT TECHNICAL 
ASSISTANCE CENTER (PTAC) 
www.aptac‐us.org 

Help businesses seeking to compete successfully in federal, state and local 
government contracting.  Funded through Cooperative agreements between 
the Department of Defense and state/local entities. 

OFFICE OF MINORITY AND WOMEN 

BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (OMWBE) 
http://gss.omb.delaware.gov/o
mwbe/  

Assists minority and/or business enterprises to compete for state contracts. 

 

THE MINORITY BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (MBDA) 
www.mbda.gov/ 

Resides under the Department of Commerce and promotes growth and 
competitiveness of minority‐owned businesses.  

DEPARTMENT OF STATE/ 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE & 

DEVELOPMENT 

Assists Delaware companies in increasing exports by positioning Delaware 
products in foreign markets, providing in‐house and on‐site counseling to small 
and medium sized businesses wishing to export for the first time or expand 
their current export sales. 
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 APPENDIX A‐5  INCORPORATING ENTREPRENEURSHIP INTO LOCAL SCHOOL SYSTEMS CURRICULUM 
Case Studies in Utilizing Entrepreneurship in Education 

 Case 1 – Rural High School in the Southeast 

Location  Walhalla, SC 

School  Walhalla High School 

Elements of 
Program 

The objective of the class is to develop and implement high school‐level entrepren‐
eurship education initiatives in a setting that includes school‐based learning, field‐
based entrepreneurship learning experiences, and activities that connect the school 
and the business community.  One component of the class is an Entreboard, a com‐
munity‐based panel that will interview each student, examine his or her portfolio or 
plan, and determine whether Entreboard resources back the plan. The process is 
equivalent to applying for a loan. In addition to Entrepreneurship I and II classes, 
components of the program are offered in various parts of the curriculum, including 
the Strategies for Success and SPECTRUM courses required of all students in grades 9 
and 10. Entrepreneurship components are also offered in Consumer Science, 
Agriculture, Industrial Technology and Desktop Publishing tracts. 

 

 Case 2 – Charter School in Large City Setting   

Location  Portland, OR 

School  Portland’s Leadership and Entrepreneurship Public Charter School (LEP) 

Elements of 
Program 

This is a charter school that incorporates entrepreneurship in the curriculum and also 
utilizes the community at large (businesses) for internships and tours to provide 
practical experiences for the students and gathering feedback on skill requirements 
from the employers. 

 

 Case 3 – Rural Public School District With Several Partners   

Location  Carroll County, Virginia

School  Carroll County School System

Elements of 
Program 

With the help of several grants as well as Virginia Cooperative Extension and the 
Department of Agriculture and Applied Economics at Virginia Tech, several entrepren‐
eurship programs were established in the school district that included the Entreprep 
program (initiated by the Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation and marketed by 
Economic Ventures in New York) that involves an initial week‐long training session 
along with quarterly meetings and doing 150 hours of work with a mentor. Students 
who complete all the requirements receive a $1,000 scholarship for the college of their 
choice. Students gain insight into vocational options and select their own mentors. 

They also utilize the 4‐H Youth Entrepreneurship Program with a curriculum that 
includes the following modules: How to Prepare a Business Plan, Understanding the 
Business Operations, Pricing Your Product or Service, Advertise That Business, 
Managing Business Affairs, Developing a Professional Image, Interviewing Employees, 
Resources and References for Further Research. 

 

Other Resources 

• Network  for  Teaching  Entrepreneurship  (www.nfteconnect.org/):  provides  lesson  plans,  activities,  struc‐
turing a business plan, business plan competition and other resources. 
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• Junior Achievement Program  for High Schools  (www.ja.org/programs/programs_high_be_entre.shtml):  JA 
has a complete entrepreneurship curriculum for high school (and other grade  levels) that essentially steps 
through the process of selecting an idea and converting it into a business plan. 

• National  Federation  of  Independent  Business  (www.nfib.com/yef/yef‐programs/young‐entrepreneur‐
awards): Provide over $2.3 million in scholarships to students operating their own businesses. 

• U.S. Department  of  Labor  on  Entrepreneurship  (www.dol.gov/odep/pubs/fact/entrepreneurship.htm)  The 
site discusses the value of entrepreneurial education and lists many references. 

Entrepreneurship Education Offerings from the University of Delaware 

The University of Delaware Center  for  Economic  Education  and  Entrepreneurship was  formed  in  1971  to 

address  the  need  to  incorporate  economics  and  entrepreneurship  in  the  K‐12  curriculum  as  an  important 

complement  to  the  reading, writing  and math  curriculum.  The  ultimate  goal  of  the  Center  for  Economic 

Education and Entrepreneurship at the University of Delaware  is to continue to provide educators with high 

quality  programs  and  workshops  that  increase  the  knowledge  and  understanding  of  economics  and 

entrepreneurship in all curriculums for grades K ‐ 12. 

 Programs for Primary Grades 

Mini‐Society 

A mini‐economic system  is established by students  in grades 3‐6  in which  they create and manage currency 

and run businesses which provide goods and essential services for their society. Students experience roles as 

employee, producer, consumer and voting citizen, and learn economic and entrepreneurial concepts.  

Bank at School 

The Delaware Bank At School program creates partnerships between banks and schools. It is designed to teach 

children the importance of financial management and to give them a chance to open a savings account at no 

cost. This weekly banking program nurtures the often neglected ethic of saving. 

Meaningful Economics Competition (ME) 

Teams of students in grades 3‐6 participate in a competition highlighting economics, entrepreneurship, and 

personal finance.  Teams participate in a written test; a production activity in which teams organize their 

members efficiently to make as many products as possible; and a problem‐solving activity in which the 

participants are tested on creating a good or service to address a problem. Finally, the teams prepare a 

marketing strategy that is presented to a panel of judges from business and education professions. 

Teach Children to Save Day 

Teach Children to Save Day is designed to teach the importance of saving. Bank volunteers are recruited to go 

into  3rd  and  4th  grade  classrooms  to  present  a  personal  finance  lesson  focusing  on  spending,  saving  and 

interest. 

Stock Market Game 

The Stock Market Game  (SMG)  is a 10‐week program designed to  introduce students to the global economy 

and  the world  of  finance  and  investing.   Teams  of  1‐6  students maintain  a  portfolio  of  $100,000  on  the 

Internet  and  vie  for divisional  awards.   The  SMG has 3  levels of  competition,  the  first of which  is open  to 

students  in grades 4‐6.  In Delaware, the SMG  is offered exclusively by the Center for Economic Education & 

Entrepreneur‐ship at  the University of Delaware.  This high‐interest game provides an exciting way  to  learn 
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about economics and the stock market.  Teachers report that the program has tremendous motivational value 

and is a unique way to introduce young people to free market economic systems. 

 Programs for Secondary Grades 

EntrePrep Summer Institute 

Students who participated in the 2011 EntrePrep Summer Institute at the University of Delaware applied what 

they learned by operating their own Business‐for‐a‐Day. Their creative entrepreneurial ventures were set‐up in 

various locations throughout Newark. 

Personal Finance Challenge 

The Personal Finance Challenge  is an exciting contest  for high school students taking the Keys or Economics 

and Finance course that tests their knowledge of personal finance topics. Students compete in teams of four. 

Eight teams of high school students participated in the 2011 Personal Finance Challenge with the Cab Calloway 

team willing the Delaware title and representing the State at the National Personal Finance Challenge. 

Stock Market Game 

The Stock Market Game  (SMG)  is a 10‐week program designed to  introduce students to the global economy 

and  the world  of  finance  and  investing.   Teams  of  1‐6  students maintain  a  portfolio  of  $100,000  on  the 

Internet and vie for divisional awards.  The SMG has 3 levels of competition including one for grades 7 and 8 

and another for grades 9 through 12.  In Delaware, the SMG is offered exclusively by the Center for Economic 

Education & Entrepreneurship at the University of Delaware.  This high‐interest game provides an exciting way 

to  learn  about  economics  and  the  stock  market.   Teachers  report  that  the  program  has  tremendous 

motivational value and is a unique way to introduce young people to free market economic systems. 

Money Rules Summit 

This year's Money Rules Summit was attended by 176 high school  juniors and seniors  from 19 high schools. 

Students worked with volunteers  from Discover Bank, State Farm, and  the State Treasurer's Office  to  learn 

about spending, saving, setting goals, budgeting and credit. This program was offered in partnership with the 

Delaware Financial Literacy Institute. 

 



NOTICE OF CITY OF MILFORD ORDINANCE REVIEW
Ordinance 2011-30

Chapter 119/Electric Tariff 

The following ordinance is under review by Milford City Council:
  
Ordinance 2011-30

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF MILFORD, ELECTRIC TARIFF,
CHAPTER 119, that establishes electric standards and rates for the City of Milford. 

Section 1.  The City of Milford Hereby Ordains that Electric Rates and Associated Matters are hereby
amended to read as follows.  

Section 2.   The Service Classification Section is hereby amended by repealing the current rate schedules and
replacing each class as noted:

Residential Service Schedule RES
C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer  Winter
Billing Months Billing Months

Energy Charge June through September October through May 

First 5 kWh
or less  $4.00 flat charge  $4.00 flat charge

Next 495 kWh 14.18 cents/kWh  13.00 cents/kWh

Excess kWh 
over 500 14.18 cents/kWh  13.00 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:
Summer  Winter
Billing Months Billing Months

Energy Charge June through September October through May 

First 5 kWh
or less  $4.00 flat charge  $4.00 flat charge

Next 495 kWh 13.80 cents/kWh  12.80 cents/kWh

Excess kWh 
over 500 13.80 cents/kWh  12.80 cents/kWh

Small General Service Schedule SGS

C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $6.00/month $6.00/month  



Energy Charge 15.30 cents/kWh  14.27 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $6.00/month $6.00/month  

Energy Charge 15.00 cents/kWh  14.00 cents/kWh

Medium General Service Schedule MGS
C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $7.00/month $7.00/month

Demand Charge $18.00/kW $10.50/kW

Energy Charge 9.00 cents/kWh    8.00 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $7.00/month $7.00/month

Demand Charge $13.95/kW $10.50/kW

Energy Charge 8.00 cents/kWh    7.00 cents/kWh

Large General Service Schedule LGS
C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $18.00/month $18.00/month

Demand Charge $14.40/kW  $10.70/kW

Energy:
     On-Peak 10.00 cents/kWh 9.00 cents/kWh
     Off-Peak 9.00 cents/kWh 8.10 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:
Summer Winter



Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $18.00/month $18.00/month

Demand Charge $13.00/kW  $10.50/kW

Energy:
     On-Peak 8.00 cents/kWh             8.00 cents/kWh
     Off-Peak 7.00 cents/kWh            7.00 cents/kWh

General Service Primary Voltage-GSP
C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $21.00/month $21.00/month

Demand Charge $12.20/kW $9.00/kW 

Energy:
    On-Peak 9.00 cents/kWh 9.00 cents/kWh
    Off-Peak 8.00 cents/kWh 8.00 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Customer Charge $21.00/month $21.00/month

Demand Charge $12.00/kW $10.55/kW 

Energy:
    On-Peak 8.00 cents/kWh 8.00 cents/kWh
    Off-Peak 7.00 cents/kWh 7.00 cents/kWh

Special Contract Services-SCS.
C. Monthly Rates

CURRENT:
Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Demand Charge $11.50/kW $9.20/kW 

Energy:
    On-Peak 8.50 cents/kWh 8.50 cents/kWh
    Off-Peak 7.50 cents/kWh 7.50 cents/kWh

PROPOSED:



Summer Winter
Billing Months Billing Months
June through September October through May

Demand Charge $8.00/kW $7.00/kW 

Energy:
    On-Peak 8.00 cents/kWh 7.00 cents/kWh
    Off-Peak 7.00 cents/kWh 7.00 cents/kWh

Section 3. Dates.

Introduction: December 12, 2011
Adoption: December 27, 2011 

The new rates will be effective with the December 2011 consumption and the January 2012 billing.

A complete copy of the City of Milford Code is available at Milford City Hall, 201 South Walnut Street,
Milford, Delaware or on the city website cityofmilford.com.

 















MILFORD CITY COUNCIL
MINUTES OF MEETING

October 24, 2011  

The Milford City Council held a Public Hearing on Monday, October 24, 2011 in the Joseph Ronnie Rogers Council
Chambers at Milford City Hall, 201 South Walnut Street, Milford, Delaware to hear the application of:

Morris and Ritchie Associates, Incorporated on behalf of Griffin Realty, LLC
Modification of a Conditional Use to Allow a Planned Unit Development (Milford Ponds Subdivision)

East of US Route 113 at intersection of West Heirloom Way, South of Seabury Avenue, Milford, Delaware 
Area of Petition is 107.50 +/- Acres; Current Zoning is R-1, R-2 and R-3.  

Tax Map No(s): 1-30-6.00-108.00, 1-30-3.00-6.00-167.00 thru 1-30-3.00-6.00-550.00;  
1-30-3.00-6.00-557.00; 1-30-3.00-6.00-558.00

  
PRESIDING: Honorable Mayor Joseph Ronnie Rogers  

IN ATTENDANCE: Councilpersons Steve Johnson, Garrett Grier III, S. Allen Pikus, Dirk Gleysteen, 
Owen Brooks, Jr., James Starling, Sr. and Katrina Wilson    

 
City Manager David Baird, Police Lieutenant Kenneth Brown and Recording Secretary 
Christine Crouch 

City Solicitor David Rutt, Esquire

Mayor Rogers called the Public Hearing to order at 7:02 p.m. 

Adoption of Ordinance 2011-12

City Planner Gary Norris advised that this proposal is for a modification to the approved conditional use for a PUD.  Several
meetings/hearings have been held. The planning commission recommended approval of the modification of the conditional
use for this applicant in August.

Richard Forsten of Saul Ewing presented the application on behalf of the property owner Griffin Realty along with Kenneth
Usab of Morris & Ritchie Associates.  

Mr. Forsten presented a map of the entire project showing its proximity to Route 113 on the south side of the city.  He reported
that some sewer connections/laterals are visible but no construction on houses or structures has begun. 

He explained the original developer, Slenker Land Corporation, abandoned the project at which time it reverted back to the
lender.  Mr. Forsten pointed out that what makes the 177-acre project unique is that when it was financed, 107 acres were
mortgaged in his client’s name and the other 70 acres were mortgaged in EB Land Corporation’s name.  Unfortunately, that
action is what has created some problems with the site.  He noted the sewer pump station was placed on the EB Lands property
though it is designed to serve the entire project; they are not allowing them to use it without concessions.  

Mr. Forsten reported that talks with EB Lands began in 2009 though no progress was made.  As a result, Griffin Realty chose
to proceed with a modification to the PUD which will allow them to do what they need on their 107 acres.  They are asking
for a modification that will separate Griffin Realty from EB Land.  

He referenced the area designated on the map as Phase I which was previously approved by city council.  He also noted the
actual property line and associated lands with split ownership.  He further explained that the pump station on the EB Land
side will not work for his client if they do not honor the easements and other issues in the original plan.

He then presented a map exclusively showing the property owned by Griffin Realty.  Mr. Forsten said it takes the original
approved PUD with the existing boundary lines and creates a plan with complete stormwater management, sewer and other
utilities solely on the Griffin property.  The modification allows them to proceed with the development of the property.
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Changes associated with the revision include the relocation of the clubhouse, which is slightly smaller than originally planned
though the pool remains.  

He noted on the original plan, there were seven points of interconnection between the two properties.  One of the points has
to be eliminated to provide a stormwater pond. 

Mr. Forsten said the plan on their property originally showed 390 lots; as a result of the reconfiguration, ten more lots will
be added. 

He emphasized they are addressing the PUD modification tonight adding that they will need to come back with their
subdivision plan at which times additional questions and issues can be addressed.   

He then explained that the property owner of the parcel along Route 113 requested an interconnection into their entrance. 
In 2002-2003, DelDOT originally agreed the interconnection would be a good idea though they have since changed that
opinion.  He said if traffic is southbound on Route 113, vehicles can turn left into the site.  They fear that southbound traffic
will use the entrance to access the Cypress Hall Commercial site.  

He then referenced another crossover where vehicles can make a u-turn to get to the Cypress Hall property.  

He said the same applies to exiting traffic heading northbound; it will become a defacto entrance and exit for the Cypress Hall
property. As a result, DelDOT does not require it nor does Griffin Realty want it.
  
Mr. Pikus clarified that Griffin Realty does not want an interconnection between their property and the Cypress Hall property.
Mr. Forsten agreed stating he believes it will end up increasing traffic at the intersection and within their community.

Mr. Forsten referenced the location of the current pumping station adding it should be moved north fifty feet. It was confirmed
the pumping station is tied into the city system.  

Mayor Rogers then opened the floor for comments.  He asked that anyone in favor of the application to speak.

Esquire Robert Gibbs of Wilson, Halbrook and Bayard stated he is present on behalf of Bruce and Susan Geyer and Joan
Palmer whom own the Cypress Hall Commercial property located immediately south of the proposed entrance to the Griffin
Realty property.  He referenced a letter he sent to the Mayor and City Council stating the reasons the owners feel DelDOT’s
original preliminary approval should be considered.  They stated that if the residential community is developed behind the
commercial property, they would have direct access onto Route 113 and a cross access easement to the abutting property
would be required.  This would allow a left in/right into the commercial and a right in/left out already associated with the
commercial parcel.  

Mr. Gibbs stated that DelDOT’s opinion on their preliminary approval changed during the time this property sat idle.  Their
original 2004 letter stated ‘Mr. Geyer is permitted one right in and one right out’ as is shown south from the proposed
entrance.  The letter also states ‘the residential developers would be required to provide the necessary reciprocal cross access
easement’. The actual location of the cross vehicular access should be as close as possible to the rear of the Geyer property.
He noted on the diagram it would be the furthest east.  

He feels there may be a number of ways to design it to allay the fears of the developer; but without some interconnection, there
are various traffic patterns created.  People who go into the residential development will typically go into the commercial area.
 Mr. Gibbs noted that in most planning scenarios, those items are viewed as important and integral to the planning.

He stated that the developer implied that vehicles coming southbound will come into the entrance and turn directly into the
commercial site.  He agrees that makes sense; otherwise, vehicles have to go further south and make a u-turn to come back
into the development which has only one entrance/exit on Route 113.    

Mr. Gibbs does not understand the logic behind their more recent decision that states ‘the approved entrance plans for the
residential project and recent conceptual meetings regarding potential redesign for the market rate residential units collectively
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invalidate the 2004 letter requiring a cross-access on the basis of conflicting movements within the boulevard style entrance.’
 

Mr. Gibbs understands that if it is not designed right, it could result in minor traffic problems when people try to exit the
commercial site into the boulevard access.  He said that was partially addressed in the drawing submitted though there may
be a better plan to warrant council to require it be worked out because inter-connectivity makes good sense.  With
interconnection, persons entering the commercial property will exit back onto Route 113 to enter the other entrance.

He said four examples were then given with references to the drawing. 

Mr. Gibbs questioned DelDOT’s position though they may have forgotten about the previous recommendation.  He explained
the intent of the conditional is to maintain a measure of control over uses that have an impact on the community. General
conditional uses may be desirable in certain locations for the convenience and welfare but they must use the property in a
manner that assures neither an adverse impact upon adjoining properties nor the creation of a public nuisance.  He thinks  this
will be supported with traffic numbers with the additional trips that will be created by having the limitation DelDOT
previously recognized as almost common sense and will have a negative impact and create a public nuisance.

They feel there is some substance to this request and they hope it can be worked out with a common entrance.  His clients are
willing to share responsibility for participation in a cross access and the cost of an entrance redesign or modification.

Mr. Johnson asked if DelDOT has the final say; City Solicitor Rutt confirmed that entrances and related traffic patterns fall
under DelDOT’s jurisdiction.   

Mr. Gibbs then clarified that his comments are in relation to the application.  He emphasized that council should consider the
entrance issue when weighing the factors for the conditional use.

Mr. Rutt asked if there was an inter-connective street when the first approval was made in 2006; Mr. Gibbs stated no.  

The solicitor then confirmed that Mr. Gibbs is requesting a new condition be added to the PUD for a cross access agreement.
Mr. Gibbs stated that DelDOT previously stated that with the main entrance onto Route 113, there should be consideration
given to a cross access to an immediately adjacent commercial property which will minimize multiple trips out into the
corridor.  He reiterated that he does not understand why DelDOT would reverse their position at this late date unless they did
not realize it was on record previously.  Thereby, he believes that thrusts it into the council’s jurisdiction because they will
become streets in Milford.

It was confirmed that DelDOT approved it in December 2004; Mr. Rutt noted it was not part of the city’s initial approval.
Mr. Gibbs added that his client brought the issue before the planning commission and other meetings over the past several
years.  

Mr. Gleysteen stated that at some point the previous plans for the Cypress Hall commercial property contained a proposed
connection between Cypress Hall and the rear of this project.  He asked if that was something the original PUD was making
accommodating; he noted the row of homes now planned that would not allow that to occur.  

Mr. Gibbs then introduced Tim Metzner of Davis, Bowen and Friedel (DBF) who was responsible for the original Milford
Ponds design.  He verified the plan was included in the original PUD and something that Mr. Geyer and the owners of Milford
Ponds were working on to create more interconnection.   He advised there were also some agreements being discussed for
shared stormwater and sewer.

He noted that DelDOT’s jurisdiction is off Route 113 only.  Any interconnection within the plan is solely between the city
and the property owners.  

On the entrance, Mr. Baird asked if the cross access easement is an issue with DelDOT or the city; Mr. Metzner said originally
DelDOT has jurisdiction.  However, they have gone on record as saying they have approved the entrance (Route 113) and will
not make any changes or alterations.  Anything off Route 113 is an inner street and city council has the ability to call for
conditions under the planning approval process.
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Mr. Rutt asked if DelDOT does not have jurisdiction, why were they involved; Mr. Gibbs explained they went to DelDOT
originally to ask their position on their requirements in the event of a residential development and a commercial development.
He said the first 2004 DelDOT letter addresses the two possibilities.  It states the residential development does not obtain US
Route 113 access.  Under those conditions, they stated the Geyer property may have a single right in/right out.  In this case,
construction to implement the cross access agreement between the two properties would not be desirable.  However, in the
case where the residential development is granted US 113 access, a cross access easement should be entered into for all the
reasons previously stated.

He emphasized the residential people will use the commercial and the commercial traffic will go through the residential area.
If they could get into the residential without going back out on Route 113, that would be done.

Councilwoman Wilson then stated that tonight this is a decision on the modification of a PUD.  She stated the development
plans will still have to come back before council.  She asked if this is something that needs to be worked out before council
acts on the modification.  She asked Mr. Gibbs if that would be more difficult for his clients.  

Mr. Gibbs explained that the process for an amendment to a conditional use allows for public comment.  As an adjacent
property, they feel this is the appropriate time for the shared entrance to be considered.

It was confirmed by City Planner Gary Norris that the planning commission recommended approval of the proposed
amendment.  As stated, it will come back before the planning commission when the subdivision preliminary and final plans
are submitted.  

Attorney Stephanie Hansen of Young, Conaway, Stargatt & Taylor then addressed council after introducing Brian McGregor
who represents EB Land. She then provided the background on how this issue has gotten to this point.  

Ms. Hansen explained that in 2003, East Bay Homes (now EB Land) had a contract to purchase four parcels of land from two
property owners.  She noted the four parcels on the map that make up the Milford Ponds PUD.  

She explained that East Bay assigned the contract for four parcels to Slenker Land Corporation; Slenker then proceeded with
the land planning and engineering.  They received city and agency approvals and received PUD approval in September of
2004.  Slenker became WS Milford Properties that was purchased in 2005.  WS Milford secured a loan from Acacia Federal
Savings Bank which became Griffin.  Slenker also secured a loan from East Bay which became EB Land.  A minor
subdivision, based on the approved PUD, was prepared by WS Milford to define the boundaries of the land that were
encumbered by both mortgages.  She then presented the minor subdivision.  

Ms. Hansen advised that EB Land has a mortgage on two of parcels (A & C); Acacia/Griffin had a mortgage on the other
parcel.  WS Milford then processed a final plan for Phase I which was approved and recorded in June 2006.  When the final
plan for Phase I was recorded, the boundaries had changed from those shown on the minor subdivision plan as Parcel B.  

She then referenced an overlay outlining the boundaries on the minor subdivision and the parcel lines upon which the
mortgage documents are based.  Noted was the portion recorded as Phase I; parts of Phase I are on land that was later
foreclosed on by Acacia and land that was later foreclosed on by EB Land.      

The Phase I plan is located primarily but not exclusively on Parcel B (Acacia).  Portions of lots, open space, sewer pump
station, stormwater pond #4 and some utilities and roads are located on Parcels A & C.  

Ms. Hansen reported that Phase II received final plan approval from city council on April 2008.  The plan was recorded in
July 2008.  Phase III has received preliminary plan approval at the time the PUD was approved in 2004.  

She reiterated that Phase I has final plan approval and substantial construction; Phase II has final plan approval and some
construction because of the infrastructure going into the stormwater pond; Phase III has preliminary plan approval which was
granted at the time of the PUD approval in 2004.  

Mr. Brooks confirmed that Phase I is owned by two different entities; Ms. Hansen stated that is the problem.  She said the
Phase I approved and recorded is actually on two lands owned by two different entities.  
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Ms. Hansen then addressed the portions of Phase I on the EB Land property and the block of 12 lots.  She said if you approve
the PUD modification that Griffin is requesting, some of the lots become illegal.  They become smaller than the minimum
5,000 square feet lot size.  Another two lots are actually split between the two owners.  She said Griffin combined the lots but
leaves EB Land with two slivers of land.  

She reinforced the fact the stormwater management pond is on EB Land property which was part of Phase I as well as the open
space and pump station. She also pointed out that Griffin stated they are still maintaining 6 points of ingress and
egress/interconnection into the development and emphasized that the one not being maintained is an important one (referenced
on map).  The phase that is part of EB Land deadends into open space.  

Ms. Hansen emphasized that they indicate this modification will have no impact on the EB Land property.  However, it will
have a significant impact on the property owner.  It creates illegal lots and a road which goes no where.  It forces EB Land
to redesign its property and seek new approvals even with respect to the property with the Phase II approval.

Mr. Pikus said that two of the lots in Phase I become illegal lots; the balance of the lots (to the left) belong to EB Land and
are part of Phase I.  He confirmed those lots are planned to be developed in Phase I with the exception of the two that become
nonconforming.  He asked what pumping stations serve those lots adding those lots belong to EB Land.  She said it would
be the same pumping station that is part of the development plan.

She reiterated the pumping station is on the EB Land; they are asking council to approve it so they can move the pump station.
There is an existing pump station with piping that is ready to be turned on.  But Griffin wants the re-approval so they can
create a new pump station on their property and abandon the current pump station.

Mr. Pikus asked if EB Land given permission to develop the remaining lots; Ms. Hansen stated no.

Ms. Wilson said it sounds like council is being put in the middle of these issues.  She asked if EB Land had submitted their
application first, how would that have affected the Griffin property.  She noted that Griffin came through with the first request
but if EB Land submitted first, it would have impacted the Griffin side.  Ms. Hansen stated Ms. Wilson is correct.  She added
there is a note on the plan for the larger PUD that states the plan cannot be changed without the consent of the other land
owner.  

Ms. Hansen then advised the application is coming before council, with a 7-1 recommendation from the Planning Commission
though they feel the recommendation should be set aside.  She added that a letter was sent to city council federal express.
They felt that was needed because at the second meeting of the planning commission they were unable to speak and include
some items in the record.  She feels the biggest issue is that Phase II has final plan approval.  It was presented at the Planning
Commission hearing and is the only final plan approval.  Not knowing there was also final plan approval on Phase II at the
time of the vote, was a very important fact they were unaware of and EB Land did not have the ability to tell them.  The letter
was sent to the city solicitor and Mayor and City Council so everyone had the information.  

She recalled the meeting in which the solicitor was going to update council on this matter and they wanted to make sure they
had this information before this hearing.

Ms. Hansen confirmed they were unable to speak at the second Planning Commission meeting.  City Solicitor Rutt explained
that at the first Planning Commission hearing, Ms. Hansen gave a long, detailed presentation similar to what she is presenting
tonight.  Mr. Rutt asked that it be put into writing and that the applicant be given the opportunity to respond to a number of
issues presented the first time.  At the second hearing, the applicant responded.  The intent was to prevent it from becoming
a back and forth commentary; Ms. Hansen had given her opinion and the applicant was asked to give their opinion.  At that
point, the comment session was closed.  

Mr. Rutt said the comment about the Phase I was stated at the original planning hearing with the understanding that only Phase
I had been approved which is something that could have been discussed in the letter that was subsequently sent.  
Mr. Rutt confirmed that Phase II was approved.
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Ms. Hansen said she would like for the record to reflect they appreciate the time the city has taken to consider this application
and their attempt to act as a mediator between the two parties.  She claims the two are trying to negotiate a solution.
Discussions have been occurring since 2006 though they have not been frequent. No agreement has not yet been reached
though negotiations continue as recently as this afternoon.

Ms. Hansen explained that they are asking city council not to make the decision and instead let the two parties work it out
among themselves.  She agrees there are a lot of technical and legal issues involved.  She said council is welcome to make
the appropriate decision though they are asking that the parties continue to handle.

Mr. Pikus questioned Ms. Hansen’s statement that council’s job is not to be a mediator; Ms. Hansen said they can be mediators
if they wish though they are asking otherwise.

Ms. Hansen then continued by stating that EB Land and Griffin are married with respect to the plan.  Each owns a portion of
a multi-phase interdependent development plan that contains a note (General Note 6) that makes it impossible to revise the
plan without the consent of the other.  It states that no revision can be made to a recorded subdivision in Sussex County
without the written consent of 75% of the lot owners of the recorded plat and the owners of the adjacent lots to the revision.
She noted that EB Land owns 46% of the lots in this PUD and is an adjacent lot owner to the revision and has not consented
to the revisions requested.  As a result, Griffin Realty’s attempt to revise the Milford PUD is in violation of this note and the
application should not be approved.  

She stated that Mr. Forsten has stated and the solicitor agrees, that reference to the term “Sussex County” in the note revealed
that this was just a boilerplate note that the original engineer inadvertently included on the plan which did not mean anything.
Ms. Hansen says this is not true and the note was intentionally requested by the original developer and Sussex County was
specifically mentioned in the note because that is where the plan was recorded.  It was not meant to infer the plan was subject
to any Sussex County development, ordinance or regulations.  Everyone is aware the plan is under the jurisdiction of the City
of Milford.

She said the note also reflected the intent of the original developer not to allow changes to the approved PUD without consent
of the people that would be most affected which includes Mr. Geyer.

Ms. Hansen reported that Griffin has instead decided to apply for a change to the plans and bypass further discussions with
EB Land by asking the City of Milford to resolve the dispute.  By doing that, they are bypassing a requirement on their own
record plan to obtain the consent of adjacent land owners.  

She said they also believe the modification request should not be approved because they think the procedure followed by
Griffin Realty to modify this was improper.  The Milford Ponds PUD was approved as a conditional use.  The city code does
not define what qualifies as a modification of a conditional use and does not address the procedure for modifying the
conditional use.  However, the practice of the city has been that if the modification was not substantial and there were existing
utilities in the ground and no changes were being made to the utilities, then the application would be processed as a
modification to a conditional use.  

In this case, she pointed out the changes to the plan that are substantial. The complete replacement of a newly installed sewage
pump station that was never used; the need to cut new services into existing water and sewer lines; the redesign and
replacement of an existing stormwater managed conveyance system and basins; the redesign of the existing approved utility
plans to accommodate additional streets and housing; the elimination of a major collection street (Flower Garden Drive); the
removal of the 55 plus age restriction on this development; an increase in the units in this phase; the removal of the 525 linear
feet tree-lined boulevard which led to a 2.1 acre centralized open space area; the elimination of the 2.1 acre centralized open
space; the removal of the 14,000 square foot community center/clubhouse with the replacement of a 1,500 square foot meeting
room and the reduction of the minimum townhouse lot width from the previously approved 24 to 18 feet.  Cumulatively, these
changes substantially alter the character of the PUD.  

Ms. Hansen pointed out that Griffin disagrees and believes that the question of interpretation and whether this is a modification
is ultimately one for the city.  The solicitor agreed with Mr. Forsten and stated that because the applicant had been directed
by the planning director to proceed by this process the city cannot change course.
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EB Land agrees that the decision rests with the city whether this is a modification.  To state council does not have the ability
to correct what is otherwise a wrong interpretation by the planning director is to take away the authority of the city council.

Mr. Pikus asked if a modification of the 55 plus community require a new traffic survey; Mr. Rutt answered that would be
part of what Griffin has indicated would be performed if the concept of the PUD modification is approved.  It is still required
to go through the site plan approvals.  Part of the overall approval process is to get the site plan which includes a traffic and
complete review by all the agencies.

Mr. Gleysteen stated that in Phase I more than 75% is owned by Griffin; he asked the city solicitor’s position on whether that
constitutes a violation of the clause for the entire PUD.  Mr. Rutt said the county has no 75% requirement.  He explained that
the note was placed on the document by the engineer at the time. He would think that if Griffin is coming in to seek a
modification, the notes are also subject to modification.  He understands that is an issue and council will have to decide if they
can seek that modification or whether they need EB Land’s approval.  

Mr. Gleysteen then asked EB Land what their position would be on the entrance to the Geyer property if everything moved
forward; Ms. Hansen said they have not discussed that though she feels EB Land would not have a problem with the
interconnection.

Mr. McGregor of EB Land then stated that the modification for the entrance is not on land owned by EB Land but is on land
owned by Acacia/Griffin though they would be supportive.

Ms. Wilson stated that she wants to comment on Ms. Hansen’s statement regarding the planning commission and city
planner/planning commission’s recommendation.  She said council relies heavily on them to do the legwork and research to
make councils’ lives easier.  She said for Ms. Hansen to imply they are not qualified to make a recommendation or
qualification for the modification is inappropriate.  She noted that City Planner Norris has a great deal of experience and
knowledge and she is confident with any issue he brings before council.  

Mr. Johnson asked if there are any potential proposals for the use of the EB Land.  Ms. Hansen stated they would like to use
and develop the land exactly as was approved on the previous PUD.  Mr. Rutt asked if EB Land is willing to pay 46% toward
the development costs.  Ms. Hansen said they are unprepared to make that commitment.

Ms. Hansen was asked if they are close to an agreement as she indicated they are continuing to negotiate.  Mr. Pikus pointed
out there appears to be more and more issues arising.  It appears that both parties are coming before council to solve their
problems.  He feels they need to resolve their problems first.   He noted we want economic development and are anxious for
the land to be developed; however, the differences need to be resolved among the parties.  Mr. Pikus does not feel this is
councils’ responsibility.

Mr. Gleysteen then added that it was stated that the parties have been negotiating since 2006; this is 2011 and it appears that
an agreement is no closer.  Griffin realizes this and they have invested a substantial amount of money into the development
of a new plan.  He is tired of looking at this eyesore over the years.  He feels that Griffin is showing some initiative by
bringing this to city council.  While there are problems, at least they are moving forth.  He was also offended by Ms. Hansen’s
comments about the planning commission not allowing her to speak. He was a member of the commission for four years and
does not recall denying anyone the opportunity to speak. 

Mr. Gleysteen said that with the recommendation of the planning commission and wanting this development to move forward
as a complete project, he is receptive to this plan.  

Ms. Hansen said she wants to mention some additional legal arguments which EB Lands wants on the record.  She said that
EB Land believes that to approve the application would effectuate an unconstitutional taking or deprive EB Land of vested
rights it has in the project.  EB Land has a current record plan approval of Phase II with work substantially underway.  They
also have a PUD and preliminary approval of Phase III.  With these approvals, the land has a certain value.  If the application
is approved, it wipes out EB Land’s ability to develop its property in accordance with the recorded plan on Phase II and the
PUD/preliminary approval of Phase III.   As a result, it strips the land of its value.  This is the unconstitutional taking of land
arises as well as a disturbance of EB Land’s vested right to develop the property in accordance with the record plan and PUD
approval particularly for Phase II.
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Ms. Hansen continued by stating the EB Lands could not be built because we of the removal of Flower Garden Drive as
previously mentioned, the interconnectivety was lost, the street would now end in a cal-de-sac and certain approved and
recorded lots would become illegal.  As a stand-alone development, EB Land property would not meet the current standards
for open space.  For example, open space can no longer include stormwater management ponds per the city code.  

She advised that Mr. Forsten and EB Land disagree as to whether there would be a substantial diminution in the value of EB
Land that would rise to the level of the taking in violation of the 5th Amendment to the Constitution.  She said the city solicitor
agreed with Mr. Forsten on the basis that EB Land has not submitted an appraisal that would document the reduction and
value.  However, they believe it is self evident that a change in the value of the land from a property with a record plan to a
record without a valid record plan would constitute a substantial diminution of value.  

She feels this is ultimately an issue that would be properly decided by the courts.

She stated that secondly, the crux of Mr. Forsten’s argument is that EB Land cannot have a vested rights claim because of the
money that EB Land has spent on the property which was primarily spent to reacquire the property in foreclosure.  Ms. Hansen
said the analysis is not that simple.  EB Land had already paid for the land once when it originally purchased the land.  The
credit bid it made at foreclosure was a separate expenditure which is something they believe would be recognized by a court.

She said lastly the principles of equitable estoppel should prevent the city from approving the application.  She explained that
equitable estoppel arises when a party, by their conduct, intentionally or unintentionally leads another in a reliance upon that
conduct, to change position to their detriment.   Equitable estoppel is recognized by the Delaware Courts.  In this case, EB
Land, acting in good faith and upon the approvals of the city in Phases A and C, substantially changed its position in buying
the property at foreclosure for $1.5 million.  Had the approvals not been in place, the bid by EB Land would have been
significantly reduced and the property sold for far less.  They believe this will be inequitable and unjust for this city to impair
or destroy the rights to develop these phases that EB Land acquired.  

Ms. Hansen stated that Mr. Forsten argues that the equitable estoppel is not applicable because among other things, the city’s
approval of the PUD plan does not mean the plan can never be changed.  The city solicitor’s opinion is that no equitable
estoppel argument is applicable because the plan can sunset.  She said the solicitor relied on the number of EB Land arguments
that were raised. They have addressed the erroneous analysis it was part of.  It was based on the fact that Phase II did not have
final approval but does have final plan approval and substantial construction.  Therefore, it cannot sunset.  

In closing, she said the Milford Ponds PUD was approved by the city as a comprehensive development plan.  Each plan was
dependent upon the other for the entire development in order to meet the requirements of the code.  There were no problems
with the PUD under a single ownership.  With two owners, agreement and coordination between the two parties is paramount.
She emphasized that Griffin desires to bring their problems here for the city to resolve.  

Ms. Hansen said they are requesting council vote no on the application and let the two parties work it out among themselves.

She noted that Mr. Forsten stated that EB Land would not recognize the valid easements on the property.  If they were valid
easements on the property, that would take away a large portion of the reason they are attending this hearing.  She said there
are no recorded easement agreements for the utility lines.   However, that is only one of the multitude of problems and how
intermixed and intermingled the two entities are.

Ms. Hansen believes they may be closer to an agreement because there has been a lot of discussions among the parties and
the last offer that EB Land sent to Griffin was close.  She feels there has been significant movement over the past five years
and the fact they are still talking as of this afternoon is indicative of that.

Mr. Rutt then referenced the illegal lot that Ms. Hansen discussed; he asked if she agrees that EB Land could seek a variance
on the lots.  Ms. Hansen stated sure.

Mr. Rutt said that EB Land could also revise its plan on its property just as Griffin is attempting to do.  Ms. Hansen said that
is correct.
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Mr. Rutt recalled asking Ms. Hansen and Mr. Forsten to look at the modification of deferred purchase money promissory note
which was between WS Milford and East Bay (paragraph 3.2).  Mr. Rutt said it states “in the event that at anytime of any
foreclosure, borrower has constructed non-public stormwater management ponds and sanitary sewer pump station within the
boundaries of the foreclosed premises or outside the boundaries of the foreclosed premises, which facilities are designed in
accordance with the master plan to serve the premises in whole, or in part.  The use of such completed facilities shall be
available to the foreclosed premises to the extent of capacity in common with any utilization of any facilities by the Phase I
property.”   

He asked Ms. Hansen what that means to her; Ms. Hansen explained that it says if EB Land forecloses on its property and
there are infrastructure elements like the stormwater management ponds or the pump station, that is not on land owned by EB
Land, that EB Land has the ability to use those infrastructure elements so long as that was something called for in the original
plan.  She said that was written at a time when they did not know where the pump station was going.  It sounds odd to be
saying it now, but at the time, no one knew the pump station would end up on EB Land.  

She said if EB Land takes title to the property, you take your property back in foreclosure, but you can go ahead and use those
infrastructure pieces that are on Griffin’s land.  She felt it would have worked fine had all the land remained under the same
ownership.  The problem is it went to foreclosure and Griffin or Acacia were never part of the agreement.  As soon as they
foreclosed on the property, their mortgage was first in time and before the agreement was written. That whole section became
null and void.  She said this was an agreement made between EB Land and the developer.  Acacia is not on the document;
Griffin is not on the document.  

She explained the developer is saying to EB Land we are modifying this loan and we are going to come to some kind of
accommodations of why we will be allowed to modify this loan.  If I foreclose on this, I can actually use the pump station and
stormwater management on the other area.  Otherwise, I can’t develop my property. And the developer agreed.  

Ms. Hansen said that will work when no one forecloses or when only one person forecloses and the other land is still owned
by the developer.  However, an agreement cannot be made if the land is on someone else’s property.  It would only work
without a third party in the mix.

Mr. Rutt pointed out that paragraph 3 states this assignment will be expressly subject to any existing assignment of the
collateral to the existing lender that provided financing.  He asked if that was Acacia; Ms. Hansen stated yes it was.  Mr. Rutt
noted that Acacia was in the picture at the time this was done.  Ms. Hansen said they did not own the property at that point.
The other party was still not in default.

Brian McGregor of EB Land then stated that Ms. Hansen talked about the background and how they became involved.  He
explained that they sold the land to Slenker.  Slenker got a construction and development loan from Acacia.  Acacia and
Slenker came back and said they don’t want to give them a mortgage for the whole piece, but if they will take a mortgage on
a piece of it, that would work.  They said no, they would rather just sell the land but then agreed to take a mortgage on a
portion of it.  The property was then divided with the preliminary plans and lots assigned.  They said they only want a first
lien and Acacia agreed and said they will take a second. But if they ever foreclose, they will take the property back.  Everyone
agreed at that time.  Time passed and Slenker gets in trouble.  There was an inner creditor agreement with Acacia that stated
that if Slenker gets in trouble and we are ready to foreclose, they wanted an opportunity to cure the default before the property
was taken. They went to Acacia and said they have no choice because Slenker was not paying and the property has to be
foreclosed and taken back.  Acacia said for them to go ahead, they have not interest in curing the issue.  

Mr. McGregor said when the plan was recorded, it was a big mistake because it did not meet the underlying minor subdivision
plan.  When Phase I was recorded, it was a different plan.  Half was on the encumbered land.  It was not their land at the time,
but was encumbered by their mortgage.  The sewer pump station, stormwater management pond, roads and utilities were on
their property. 

They started negotiating when that occurred in 2006 and are still discussing it.  They do not want to get in a position where
Acacia develops their property and the EB Land sits idle for 25 years until the utilities can get to them.  

He said that if Acacia gets approval, they would like them to give EB Land an opportunity to develop and bring in the utilities
into their property to they can develop.  But that has not been accomplished. 
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Mr. Gleysteen said it appears the encumbered properties closely mirror Phase I, Phase II and Phase III.  It appears to him there
may have been a plan at some point to separate out different phases if there were financial problems.  Mr. McGregor explained
they used the original preliminary plan and drew a line around the lots under the two ownerships.  However, the final plan
was not identical to the preliminary plan, which he implied occurs all the time.  The final plan was recorded and the sewer
pump ended up on the EB Land property and the open space became part of the Phase I plan.  He is sure it is because Slenker
nor Acadia ever anticipated defaulting on the mortgage.  

Mr. McGregor said this was created because the land was different and the minor subdivision did not match.

Mr. Gleysteen confirmed the mortgages followed Phase II and Phase III of the preliminary.  Mr. McGregor stated that both
the EB Land and Acacia followed the minor subdivision plan.

Mr. Gleysteen stated if the final approval adhered exactly to the original plan, would there be a problem with allowing Griffin
to do what they wish with Phase I.  Mr. Gregory stated he would have a problem because they want the ability to develop their
property.  Though they never intended to get the property back, now that they have it, they do not want to wait for utilities.
None of the utilities in Phase I are their responsibility.  They are unable to go on the Griffin land to develop the utilities for
their land.  

He concluded by saying that they need a pump station and other things to develop their property.  Otherwise, at some point
in the future, they may get utilities which could be 15 or 20 years and possibly never.  

Mr. Forsten then responded to Rob Gibb’s comments regarding the interconnection along the front of the parcel.  He agrees
that is something that can be considered later in the subdivision process for many reasons including DelDOT’s statement in
the letter sent by Mr. Gibbs that the interconnection is now incompatible.   Though that should not be an issue, this evening,
they will continue to discuss that issue with the Geyers and the planning commission.  He said if the city agrees the
interconnection is needed, they will abide by that.

Mr. Forsten reiterated that these two parties have been trying for years to come to some resolution in this matter.  However,
it has not happened.  He said when the city initially indicated they would not consider the request and canceled the September
2011 hearing, EB Land pulled its offer and asked them to purchase the land for $2 million. When the meeting was rescheduled,
EB Land made another offer and went back to the offer they originally pulled.

He feels that Griffin has made a generous offer of $300,000 which can be spent on infrastructure or in whatever manner they
wish, but they prefer to develop according to the original plan.  However, after this length of time, they realized that would
not happen and is the reason they came up with a new plan that only utilizes the Griffin Realty property.  They plan to move
the pump station 50 feet though it is still in a position to be utilized by EB Land should they develop.  It was designed to work
with the existing infrastructure including the sewer lines already in place.

Mr. Forsten said that EB Land essentially wants it both way; they state they want to develop according to the existing plan,
but then ask for $2 million or require the infrastructure be put in for their use.   

He recalled when Mr. Rutt stated that EB Land owns 46% of the lots and asked if they were willing to pay for 46% of the
infrastructure though their answer was no.  He said their pump station was paid for by money advanced by Acacia
Bank/Griffin Realty to Slenker at a cost of $300,000.  It will eventually be used by EB Land when they develop though they
have not paid a cent toward it.  

Mr. Forsten noted that Mr. McGregor then stated he was willing to work with Griffin if they installed the infrastructure so
they could begin to develop their property.  That is why Griffin decided enough is enough and made the decision to present
an application.  They have maintained six or seven interconnections and have done everything possible to maintain the
developability and usability of their property.  He agrees there will be a couple lots reduced below the minimum lot size.
Currently there is split ownership though a minor subdivision can clean the problem up.

He referenced Ms. Hansen’s arguments in regard to vested rights, the taking of property, equitable estoppel, etc. noting those
arguments were made to the planning commission.  City Solicitor Rutt responded in writing and the planning commission
found them to be without merit and recommended approval of the application.
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He asked for councils’ support reiterating the planning commissions’ recommendation for approval.

Mayor Rogers asked for any additional questions.

When asked the next step, Mr. Forsten stated that their next step will be final subdivision approval that will set the revised
lot lines, revised stormwater management and other associated issues.   He emphasized they want to move forward with the
property because it has been sitting idle for too long.

Mr. Brooks asked for clarification; Mr. Forsten stated that if the plan is approved and no agreement is made with EB Land,
they will move the pump station and start marketing the lots.  He said there are existing lots that could have been marketed
if they were able to use the pump station.  In the meantime, they will construct some models. Unfortunately, right now, the
pump station is the holdup.  

He concluded by stating that they would not be spending this money if they did not plan to move forward with the project.

Mr. Johnson asked how Griffin Realty will react if council approves this application and the interconnection; Mr. Forsten
explained the front commercial property has asked for the interconnect as part of this modification. He feels that should be
addressed during the subdivision process and will be considered at that time.  If seriously considered, he believes traffic
numbers will be needed.  His concern is that all the southbound traffic on Route 113 will want to turn into the crossover and
into the commercial project.  Mr. Forsten said he could be wrong though they are willing to discuss that during the subdivision
process.   

Mr. Baird stated that Mr. Forsten said the sewer was an issue preventing this project from currently moving forward and asked
if there were any other issues.  Mr. Forsten stated the sewer is holding things up at this point.  All other infrastructure is there.
He said if there was an agreement on the pump station and the sewer was ready to operate, they could begin marketing and
building models as he previously stated.

Mayor Rogers then asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.  No one responded and the public hearing was closed.

Mr. Gleysteen moved to adopt Ordinance 2011-12 with the provision that if Mr. Geyer wishes to commission the traffic study
for the entrance to the commercial property and there are no associated safety issues, that should become part of the modified
PUD, seconded by Ms. Wilson:

Ordinance 2011-12

Modification to Conditional Use-Morris and Ritchie Associates, Incorporated on behalf of Griffin Realty, LLC

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MILFORD, DELAWARE APPROVING THE MODIFICATION
OF A CONDITIONAL USE TO ALLOW A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR MORRIS AND RITCHIE ASSOCIATES,
INCORPORATED ON BEHALF OF GRIFFIN REALTY LLC ON 107.50 +/- ACRES IN AN R-1, R-2 AND R-3 DISTRICT
LOCATED EAST OF US ROUTE 113 AT THE INTERSECTION OF WEST HEIRLOOM WAY, SOUTH OF SEABURY
AVENUE, MILFORD, DELAWARE, FORMERLY KNOWN AS CENTRAL PARKE AT MILFORD/MILFORD PONDS.  TAX
MAP NO(s): 1-30-6.00-108.00, 1-30-3.00-6.00-167.00 thru 1-30-3.00-6.00-550.00;  1-30-3.00-6.00-557.00; 1-30-3.00-6.00-
558.00.

Whereas, the City of Milford Planning Commission initially reviewed the application at a Public Hearing on May 17, 2011
and on August 16, 2011, presented item for consideration by the City Council; and

Whereas, Milford City Council held an advertised Public Hearing on October 24, 2011 to allow for public comment on the
application; and

Whereas, it is deemed in the best interest of the City of Milford to allow the Modifications to the Conditional Use for a
Planned Unit Development as herein described.

Now, Therefore, the City of Milford hereby ordains as follows:
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Section 1.  Upon the adoption of this ordinance, Morris and Ritchie Associates, Incorporated on behalf of Griffin Realty, LLC
is hereby granted an Amended Conditional Use Permit in accordance with the application, approved plans and any conditions
set forth.

Section 2. Construction or operation shall be commenced within one year of the date of issuance or the conditional use permit
becomes void.

Section 3. Dates.

Adoption Date: 10-24-11
Effective Date: 11-04-11

Mr. Pikus asked the solicitor if this is opening the door for potential problems; Mr. Rutt explained that any vote opens the door
for an appeal or other legal action.  However, council has the right to approve, approve with conditions (motion), deny or defer
action.  

Motion carried by the following 5-2 vote:

Mr. Johnson stated yes that he believes this property could sit forever without anything happening.  He said there is a plan
on the table and feels it should be supported.

Mr. Grier votes yes stating he agrees with Councilman Gleysteen in regard to the conditional use for the Geyer
interconnection.  He would like that to be considered and for this to move forward in preparation for the next steps for site
plan and subdivision approval.  He also would like to see some activity there.

Mr. Pikus votes no stating that he does not feel council should be in a position to settle two arguments.  He was concerned
about the statement made about the Geyer request and believes permission should be given for that.  The first comment was
they would consider that but they do not want that which he feels can be discussed later.  

Mr. Gleysteen votes yes and acknowledges there are two owners involved in Phase I.  He said the predominant owner of that
property is Griffin who have put forth the initiative to move this project forward and believes it is in the best interest of the
city.

Mr. Brooks votes no along with Mr. Pikus, but agrees that Mr. Geyer should have his entrance.  He said the gentleman said
they are ready to move forward but feels that this time next year, there is a good chance they will be in court still discussing
this.  Therefore, he votes no.

Mr. Starling votes yes noting they came in with a plan that can be worked with.  If the other group comes in with a plan they
can work with, he will support that as well.  He hopes that in the meantime both parties can work this out. 

Ms. Wilson votes yes based on the period of time they have been trying to negotiate, noting the previous five to six-year time
frame during which time nothing was accomplished.  She also votes yes based on the planning commission’s review of the
application and information and their recommendation.  She also agrees they have a plan which means they have laid their
money out and believes we should provide them that opportunity.

The city manager then asked for the city attorney’s opinion on Section 230-58 (Zoning Code) and asked if it needs to pass
with a simple majority or a 3/4 majority.  

Mr. Rutt explained that only applies ‘in the case of an unfavorable report or recommendation for denial’.  He explained that
in this case, the recommendation is to approve.
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With no further business, the Public Hearing adjourned at 8:50 p.m.

                                                   Respectfully submitted,

                                                   Terri K. Hudson, CMC
                                                   City Clerk/Transcriber



MILFORD CITY COUNCIL    
MINUTES OF MEETING

December 5, 2011   

A Meeting of Milford City Council was held in the Joseph Ronnie Rogers Council Chambers at Milford City Hall on
Monday, December 5, 2011.

PRESIDING: Honorable Mayor Joseph Ronnie Rogers  

IN ATTENDANCE: Councilpersons Steve Johnson, Garrett Grier III, S. Allen Pikus, Dirk Gleysteen
Owen Brooks, Jr., Douglas Morrow, Sr., James Starling, Sr. and Katrina Wilson     
City Clerk/Recorder Terri Hudson

City Solicitor David Rutt

CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Rogers called the Council Meeting to order at 7:38 p.m. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

Review and Approval of Settlement Agreement & Mutual Release–201-203-205-207 Northwest Front Street
-Downtown Properties LLC
-Spyros Maroulas, Incorporated 

City Solicitor Rutt referenced the settlement/mutual release agreements included in the packet for Downtown Properties LLC
and Spyros Maroulas, Incorporated.   He explained that Downtown Properties (Dan Bond) will deed its property to the city;
in turn, the city is responsible for demolishing the existing structures and leveling and seeding the sites. After the demolition,
the property deeded to the city by Bond will be transferred to Spyros Maroulas, Incorporated.  

Mr. Rutt reported the documents contain full and final releases between the parties, actions, causes of actions, demands,
damages, liabilities, etc.  

Both agreements have been signed by the parties involved.  The agreements are being presented for ratification by city
council. 

Mr. Starling moved for approval of the Downtown Properties LLC Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release and Spyros
Maroulas, Incorporated Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release involving 201-203-205-207 Northwest Front Street.
Motion seconded by Mr. Pikus.  Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote.

Repeal Clark’s General Contractors, Incorporated Agreement (December 13, 2010) 
Approval of Amended Clark’s General Contractors, Incorporated Agreement

Mr. Rutt advised the original contract of $14,640 was approved by city council on December 13, 2010 after Clarks was the
low bidder in a formal bid process completed at that time.  On September 20, 2011, an amended contract was submitted in
the amount of $15,372. 

The contract covers the cost of the demolition and removal of debris at the Downtown Properties LLC and Spyros Maroulas
Incorporated sites previously discussed. 

Ms. Wilson moved to repeal the Clark’s General Contractors, Incorporated agreement dated December 13, 2010 and approve
the Clark’s General Contractors, Incorporated agreement dated September 20, 2011 in the amount of $15,372, seconded by
Mr. Starling.  Motion carried by an 8-0 unanimous roll call vote.

Mr. Gleysteen votes yes though he feels the financial responsibility of the demolition should not be the city’s and he
recommends recovering those costs.  However, he votes yes to eliminate the eyesore.
Ms. Wilson agrees with Mr. Gleysteen’s comments.
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 NEW BUSINESS

FY 2011-2012 Budget Amendment 

Mr. Pikus reported that Building Inspector Don Williams requested additional funding because the demolition account has
been depleted.   This adjustment covers the cost of demolishing the properties on Northwest Front Street in addition to any
related incidentals.   
 
Mr. Pikus moved for an increase in the WAWA Land Lease Account (101-0000-359-10-10) of $16,000 and increase the
Demolition Account (101-1045-429-68-10) by $16,000 to cover the costs of demolishing the Maroulas and Bond Properties
on Northwest Front Street.  Mr. Brooks seconded motion.  Motion carried with no one opposed.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to 29 Del. C. §10004(b)(9) Personnel matters in which the names, competency and abilities of individual employees
or students are discussed.

Mr. Pikus moved to go into Executive Session reference Personnel Matters, seconded by Mr. Morrow.   Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Rogers recessed the Council Meeting at 7:49 p.m. for the purpose of an Executive Session to discuss personnel
matters.

Return to Open Session

City Council returned to Open Session at 8:41 p.m. 

Executive Session/Personnel Matter

Mr. Morrow moved to appoint Richard Carmean as City Manager for an indefinite term, seconded by Mr. Brooks.  Motion
carried by unanimous roll call vote.

Mr. Pikus stated he feels it is a wise decision to bring someone back with forty years of experience in the city and someone
who is very dedicated to the City of Milford. 

Mr. Gleysteen votes yes for the reasons previously stated.

Mayor Rogers agreed the city is very fortunate to have someone who can start work immediately and has the ability to
continue with the  direction and management of the city and the ability to proceed with the projects that are currently in the
works.

Mr. Carmean thanked council stating he hopes he is able to live up to their expectations.

ADJOURN 

With no further business, Mr. Pikus moved to adjourn the Council Meeting, seconded by Mr. Morrow. Motion carried.

The Council Meeting adjourned at 8:43 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted,

Terri K. Hudson, CMC
City Clerk/Recorder
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